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Swift, Certain and Fair
We delivered our response to the Attorney-General’s request for the Council to examine the empirical 
evidence and provide advice on whether the criminal justice system response known as the swift 
certain and fair approach is desirable in sentencing and managing family violence offenders.

OCTOBER 
2017

Sentencing Guidelines
We published an issues paper and final report on the introduction of the sentencing guidelines 
council in Victoria, in response to a request for advice from the Attorney-General to conduct broad 
consultation and advise him on the most suitable model for such a council.

NOVEMBER 2017 
& MAY 2018

Community Correction Orders
As required by the Corrections Act 1986 (Vic), we published the first of our reports on serious 
offending committed by people serving a community correction order. This report is our second 
on community correction orders for this financial year, having earlier published our findings on 
contravention offences committed by people on these orders.

JULY 2017 
& MAY 2018

Secondary Offences
In a Victorian first, we examined offences that arise from non-compliance with conditions placed on 
people who have been convicted or are suspected of committing a criminal offence.

SEPTEMBER 
2017

Consultation Events
We hosted the Right Honourable Lord Justice Treacy and Professor Julian Roberts, both members of 
the Sentencing Council for England and Wales, who in a series of consultation events shared their 
experiences about the introduction and operation of sentencing guidelines in the United Kingdom.

NOVEMBER 
2017

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Highlights of the Year
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Social Media
We now have over 5,600 Twitter followers; in 2017–18, our tweets were seen over a million times and 
had over 20,000 engagements.

2017 TO 2018

A Quick Guide to Sentencing
Shortly before the new school year, we released the fourth edition of our popular A Quick Guide to 
Sentencing along with updated teachers’ kits for use in Victorian secondary schools.

JANUARY 2018

Minor Drug Offences
In another first, we released a study of minor drug offences sentenced in the Magistrates’ Court of 
Victoria, examining offences of possession or use of small quantities of illicit drugs sentenced from 
2007 to 2017.

JUNE 2018

Restitution and Compensation
We published an issues and options paper in response to a request for advice from the Attorney-
General on whether restitution and compensation orders made under the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) 
should become sentencing orders.

MARCH 2018

Stakeholder Engagement
We consulted with over 60 government and non-government agencies, as well as members of 
the community, in the preparation of our reports.

2017 TO 2018
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SENTENCING ADVISORY COUNCIL

CHAIR AND CEO’S REPORT

Sentencing law and practice continue to be dynamic in Victoria and seem to attract more interest 
than any other aspect of the criminal justice system.

This year saw the commencement of a standard sentence scheme, which involves parliament 
setting statutory guideposts for the sentencing of 12 serious offences including murder, rape and 
sexual offences involving children. The scheme was first discussed in the Council’s 2016 Sentencing 
Guidance in Victoria: Report. Under this scheme, courts are required to consider a standard sentence 
alongside all other relevant sentencing principles and factors. In addition to standard sentences, the 
recent introduction of Category 1 and Category 2 offences restricts the ability of a sentencing court 
to impose anything other than a custodial sentence for 20 serious offences. These changes add to a 
myriad of schemes already in the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) that have increased the complexity of the 
sentencing task.

These changes have resulted from a continuing perception by legislators and others that the 
community believes that sentences are too lenient and that sentencing courts are soft on crime. A 
number of studies of jurors’ opinions of sentencing in both Tasmania and Victoria, led by Tasmanian 
Governor Her Excellency Kate Warner AC, have found that jurors’ views of sentencing are much 
more nuanced and when informed of the facts of the case, jurors are often more lenient than the 
judge. And the reality is that the community only hears about a small number of sensational cases 
that strongly influences community views of sentencing. In fact, most cases are sentenced without 
controversy. Sensational reporting, while sometimes well intentioned, often harms genuine criticism 
and undermines evidence-based reform.

The recommendations in the Council’s recently published A Sentencing Guidelines Council for Victoria: 
Report offer a way forward to restore public confidence in sentencing by making sentencing more 
consistent, transparent and reflective of community standards. The guidelines are intended to 
promote consistency of approach by providing comprehensive and methodical guidance for 
sentencing courts to follow, while preserving judicial discretion. The adoption of guidelines would 
represent a seismic shift in Victoria’s sentencing framework, but it might help stem the flow of 
legislative restrictions on sentencing discretion.

This year, the Council also provided advice to the Attorney-General, the Hon Martin Pakula, MP, 
recommending against the adoption of an American sentencing model known as swift, certain and 
fair as a means of increasing the accountability of family violence offenders. Instead, the Council’s 
Swift, Certain and Fair Approaches to Sentencing Family Violence Offenders: Report recommends a range 
of practical reforms aimed at increasing the accountability of family violence offenders sentenced to 
community correction orders and strengthening the system’s response to changes in family violence 
risk, even where no breach has occurred. The swift, certain and fair model has received many 
accolades as an effective approach to sentencing drug offenders in Hawaii, and it would have been 
easy for the Council to have been swept up in the enthusiasm for this model. But the Council’s careful 
research revealed that there was a lack of evidence for this approach in sentencing and managing 
family violence offenders. Indeed, adopting such a model in Victoria has the potential to increase the 
risks to family violence victim survivors.

The Council has been asked to provide advice to the Attorney-General on whether restitution 
and compensation orders should become part of an offender’s sentence. Our initial research 
confirmed that the number of restitution and compensation orders paid by offenders is 

Chair and CEO’s Report
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very low and that enforcement action is rarely taken on those orders that remain unpaid. 
The Council published an issues and options paper this year seeking input from stakeholders and the 
broader community on how to improve practical outcomes for victims. The Council will provide its 
final report to the Attorney-General in September 2018.

The Council also released the first of its reports to fulfil a legislative requirement to publish annual 
figures on the number of convictions for serious offences committed on a community correction 
order. Although the courts’ use of community correction orders has increased significantly over 
the past five years, the report found that only 1.6% of the just over 33,000 people who received a 
community correction order in the three years to 30 June 2017 were sentenced last financial year 
for a serious offence committed while on that order. Perhaps more importantly, the report found 
that over 60% of people who commit a serious offence while on a community correction order do 
so within six months of the start date of the order. This highlights the need for support services and 
programs to start as soon as possible after sentence.

It is pleasing that the Council is being asked to provide advice to government on these important 
aspects of sentencing law and practice and provide evidence for informed discussion on emerging 
and important policy issues. It is also gratifying to see the influence of the Council’s work, particularly 
in youth justice where the Council’s research and analysis have been cited and used by other 
agencies and organisations to support recommendations for reform.

In addition to its extensive work on references this year, the Council has delivered its own program of 
research, produced freely available, up-to-date sentencing information to the community, distributed 
plain-language educational materials and provided an educational program. The Council’s expanding 
social media presence allows us to communicate widely on sentencing issues. All these achievements 
are described in more detail in this report.

Informing the community about sentencing practice and countering misinformation on sentencing 
have never been more important. However, the Council’s small budget is hampering its capacity 
to be innovative in its approaches to community education, community consultation and gauging 
public opinion. It is also hampering its ability to update tools such as Virtual You Be the Judge, its freely 
available, online interactive education program, and expand Sentencing Advisory Council Statistics 
Online (SACStat), its award winning online tool for viewing sentencing data.

We are grateful for the commitment of the Council Directors and the secretariat for what has been 
achieved this year despite limited resources. It is a testament to the talent, experience and dedication 
they bring to the Council’s work program.

We thank the Council’s Audit and Finance Committee for their thoughtful advice over the course of 
the year. We also thank Ryan Phillips, Deputy Secretary, Criminal Law Policy and Operations, for his 
support over the past year.

We say farewell to Directors Barbara Rozenes and Geoff Wilkinson, who have both resigned from 
the Council this year. A founding member of the Council, Barbara ably and sensitively represented 
the interests of victims in the Council’s deliberations. Geoff, a former crime journalist, brought a 
great deal of media savvy to the work of the Council. His perspective on our work and the political 
environment in which we operate will be missed. We thank them both for their contributions 
to the Council.

A R I E  F R E I B E R G
Chair

C Y N T H I A  M A R W O O D
Chief Executive Officer

The adoption of [sentencing] guidelines would represent a seismic shift 
in Victoria’s sentencing framework, but it might help stem the flow of 
legislative restrictions on sentencing discretion. 
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FUNCTIONS AND OBJECTIVES

Functions and Objectives

OUR FUNCTIONS
The Sentencing Advisory Council is an independent statutory body established under Part 9A of the 
Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic).

Section 108C of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) provides that the functions of the Council are to:

a. state in writing to the Court of Appeal its views in relation to the giving, or review, of a guideline 
judgment;

b. provide statistical information on sentencing, including information on current sentencing 
practices, to members of the judiciary and other interested persons;

c. conduct research and disseminate information to members of the judiciary and other interested 
persons on sentencing matters;

d. gauge public opinion on sentencing matters;

e. consult on sentencing matters with government departments and other interested persons and 
bodies as well as the general public; and

f. advise the Attorney-General on sentencing issues.

In addition, the Corrections Act 1986 (Vic) requires the Council to report annually on the number of 
persons convicted each financial year of a serious offence committed while subject to a community 
correction order.

The Council was established to allow properly ascertained and informed public opinion to be taken 
into account in the criminal justice system on a permanent and formal basis. This is, in part, achieved 
through the membership of the Council. It comprises people with a wide range of backgrounds, 
including broad community experience in issues affecting courts, as well as police, legal practitioners, 
members of victim of crime support or advocacy groups, and others with broad experience in the 
operation of the criminal justice system.

OUR MISSION
The Council’s mission is to:

Bridge the gap between the community, the courts and the government by informing, educating 
and advising on sentencing issues.

The Council’s work revolves around providing sound evidence on which to base sentencing policies 
and practices, and increasing community confidence in those sentencing policies and practices.

CONTEXT OF OUR ROLE
The Council addresses a range of needs. Key needs are identified in the opposite figure, which also 
describes the relationship between these needs, our role (with reference to the statutory functions 
set out in section 108C(1) of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic)) and the benefits that flow from our work.



9

2. Provide independent, high-quality 
sentencing research and policy 

advice (a), (c), (f)

1. Provide accurate and 
reliable sentencing data and 

analysis (b)

4. Consult widely and gauge 
public opinion on sentencing 

matters (d), (e)

3. Provide information to 
members of the community 

about sentencing (b), (c)

OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLES
The Council has agreed on a set of guiding principles that underpin the way in which we carry out 
our functions. The objective is to ensure that our work is of the highest quality and that we maintain 
productive and responsive relationships with our stakeholders.

The Council is committed to: 

• continuously improving its online sentencing data;

• preparing authoritative, evidence-based advice in response to all terms of reference;

• developing and delivering an annual research program that informs community debate on 
sentencing issues;

• engaging with stakeholders to identify emerging issues and research priorities;

• providing current, plain-language sentencing information on our website and in our educational 
materials; 

• involving the community and other stakeholders in our research and decision-making; and

• supporting and developing staff.

OUR ROLE

NEED FOR ACCURATE AND 
CREDIBLE DATA ON SENTENCING

NEED FOR INFORMATION ABOUT 
HOW COURTS PASS SENTENCE

NEED FOR MEMBERS OF THE 
COMMUNITY TO FEEL THEY HAVE A 
VOICE IN SENTENCING ISSUES

NEED FOR INFORMATION ON THE 
OPERATION OF SENTENCING LAW

Information on current sentencing 
practices is readily available • sentencing 

is more transparent and consistent
Sentencing reforms 
are evidence based

Sentencing processes are 
understandable to the community

Victorians are confident their views on 
sentencing have been heard and have been 

taken into account in the reform process

Victorians are more confident 
in sentencing

The community has a greater understanding 
of the rationale of sentencing reforms
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Council Directors

COUNCIL DIRECTORS

PROFESSOR ARIE FREIBERG AM 
(CHAIR) 
Profile – senior member of an academic 
institution

Emeritus Professor Arie Freiberg is an 
authority on sentencing issues and the 

criminal justice system, having undertaken extensive research 
on sentencing theory, policy and practice. He was Dean of 
Law at Monash University from 2004 to 2012. He has served 
as a consultant to the federal, Victorian, South Australian, 
and Western Australian governments on sentencing matters 
as well as to the Australian Law Reform Commission and 
South African Law Reform Commission. Professor Freiberg 
was appointed Chair of the Tasmanian Sentencing Advisory 
Council in 2013.

Council meetings attended: 9/11

LISA WARD 
(DEPUTY-CHAIR)
Profile – operation of the criminal justice 
system

Lisa Ward has extensive experience in a 
range of human services, including juvenile 

justice, child protection and adult corrections. For the last 
decade, she has operated a human services consulting 
business, providing research, program evaluation and policy 
review services to government and community organisations.

Council meetings attended: 10/11

The Council Directors come from a wide spectrum of professional and 
community backgrounds and represent a range of perspectives. Barbara 
Rozenes and Geoff Wilkinson resigned from the Council during 2017–18.

CARMEL ARTHUR 
Profile – operation of the 
criminal justice system 

Carmel Arthur has great 
personal insight and a 
unique comprehension 

of the operation of the criminal justice 
system. She is not only a victim of 
crime but has also worked with many 
victims of crime. She advocates better 
treatment of victims and their families 
through the criminal justice process 
and is particularly conscious of the 
need to keep the community engaged 
and informed about the justice system. 
Carmel is a founding member of the 
Sentencing Advisory Council. She 
was a long-term community member 
of the Adult Parole Board until her 
appointment as a full-time member of 
the newly established Post-Sentence 
Authority in 2018. Carmel was also 
recently appointed to the Board at 
Penington Institute. She has vast 
experience in the criminal justice 
system, particularly with courts, 
Corrections and Victoria Police.

Council meetings attended: 10/11

FIONA DOWSLEY
Profile – operation of the 
criminal justice system

Fiona Dowsley has over 
a decade of experience 
in building the evidence 

base in crime and justice to support 
improved research and decision-making. 
She spent two years as Director of the 
National Centre for Crime and Justice 
Statistics at the Australian Bureau of 
Statistics and has collaborated in the 
international sphere, such as with 
the UNODC Task Force, to develop an 
international classification of crime. 
She was appointed as the founding 
Chief Statistician of the Crime Statistics 
Agency in Victoria in January 2014.

Council meetings attended: 4/11 
(extended leave)

HELEN FATOUROS
Profile – operation of the 
criminal justice system

Helen Fatouros has 
worked within the 
criminal justice system 

for over 18 years as a lawyer and 
leader within prosecutions and the legal 
assistance sector. Her previous roles 
include Executive Director Criminal Law 
Services at Victoria Legal Aid, Legal 
Prosecution Specialist, and Directorate 
Manager Specialist Sex Offences at the 
Victorian Office of Public Prosecutions. 
In 2012, Helen led the Sexual Offences 
Interactive Legal Education Program, 
earning her the Law Institute of Victoria’s 
2013 President’s Award for Government 
Lawyer of the Year. Helen is also a 
current Commissioner of the Victorian 
Law Reform Commission.

Council meetings attended: 7/11
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JOHN GRIFFIN PSM
Profile – operation 
of the criminal justice 
system

John Griffin has over 
40 years’ experience 

in the operation of criminal justice 
systems, including senior executive 
roles in both the Victorian correctional 
system and the Victorian court 
system. He is currently a member of 
the Mental Health Tribunal and the 
Post-Sentence Authority.

Council meetings attended: 8/11

HUGH DE KRETSER
Profile – community 
issues affecting courts

Hugh de Kretser is the 
Executive Director of 
the Human Rights Law 

Centre. He has extensive legal practice 
and policy experience in the criminal 
justice system, working on both offender 
and victim issues. Previously, he worked 
for six years as the Executive Officer 
of the Federation of Community Legal 
Centres and was a commissioner on the 
Victorian Law Reform Commission from 
2008 to 2012.

Council meetings attended: 9/11

DAVID GRACE QC
Profile – highly 
experienced defence 
lawyer

David Grace has nearly 
40 years’ experience 

as a legal practitioner, having appeared 
in numerous court jurisdictions in a 
number of leading sentencing cases. 
He regularly appears in the High Court 
and the Court of Appeal and is a former 
Chair of the Criminal Law Section of the 
Law Institute of Victoria.

Council meetings attended: 7/11

SHERRIL HANDLEY
Profile – member of the 
police force of the rank 
of senior sergeant or 
below who is actively 
engaged in criminal law 
enforcement duties

Senior Sergeant Sherril Handley joined 
Victoria Police in 2003 and worked in 
various operational policing roles prior 
to joining the Prosecutions Division 
where she currently manages the 
Prosecutor Training Course. She has 
represented Victoria Police interstate 
and overseas in relation to family 
violence reforms and has received 
several internal commendations.

Council meetings attended: 6/11

BRENDAN KISSANE 
QC
Profile – highly 
experienced prosecution 
lawyer

Brendan Kissane has 
been a barrister for over 30 years, 
commencing his career in law as a 
solicitor with the Victorian Aboriginal 
Legal Service. He has practised 
principally in criminal law with over 20 
years’ experience in that area. He was 
appointed as a Crown Prosecutor in 2007, 
Senior Crown Prosecutor in 2015 and 
Chief Crown Prosecutor in 2018. As a 
Crown Prosecutor, he was allocated to the 
Specialist Sexual Offences Unit. He was 
the first Crown Prosecutor in the Geelong 
Office of Public Prosecutions, and for 
the last six years he has been appearing 
regularly in the Court of Appeal. 

Council meetings attended: 9/11

SHANE PATTON
Profile – operation 
of the criminal justice 
system

Deputy Commissioner, 
Special Operations, 

Shane Patton joined Victoria Police 
in 1978 and has held a wide range 
of diverse policing roles including 
operational uniform policing, criminal 
investigations and public transport 
safety. He led the Schools of Practice 
project within the Victoria Police 
training environment and has received 
several internal commendations. He is 
a Williamson Fellow (WCLP – Leadership 
Victoria 2007) and an ANZSOG Alumnus.

Council meetings attended: 7/11

GEOFF WILKINSON OAM
Profile – operation of the criminal justice 
system

Geoff Wilkinson specialised in crime and 
justice issues during 43 years as a journalist. 
He was founding Media Director of Victoria 

Police and in 1987, as the result of a Churchill Fellowship, 
established Australia’s first Crime Stoppers program. He 
was awarded an OAM for community service in 2008, and 
was presented with a Lifetime Achievement Award by the 
Melbourne Press Club in 2011. He was appointed as a 
community member of the Adult Parole Board in 2014.

Council meetings attended: 8/11 
Retired June 2018

BARBARA ROZENES
Profile – member of a victim of crime support 
or advocacy group

Barbara Rozenes is the immediate past 
president and inaugural ambassador of 
Court Network, where she has had over 25 

years’ experience with victims of crime as a weekly volunteer 
in the County Court. She is a board member of the Victorian 
Association for the Care and Resettlement of Offenders, an 
ambassador for Windana Drug and Alcohol Recovery, an 
associate member of the Australian Institute of Arbitrators and 
Mediators, and a patron of the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria. 
She is also a member of the critical care network (DHHS).

Council meetings attended: 6/11 
Retired March 2018
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SECRETARIAT STAFF 2017–18
Chief Executive Officer 
Cynthia Marwood

Legal Policy and Community Engagement
Manager, Legal Policy and Community 
Engagement 
Donald Ritchie

Principal Legal Policy Officer 
Felicity Stewart 

Anusha Kenny (from 31 July 2017)

Senior Legal Policy Officer 
Paul McGorrery (from 31 July 2017) 

Megan Styles (from 11 September 2017) 

Helen Rechter (from 31 July 2017 to 2 February 2018) 

Anusha Kenny (from 1 July 2017 to 30 July 2017) 

Nina Hudson (from 1 July 2017 to 20 February 2018)

Legal Policy Officer 
Paul McGorrery (from 1 July 2017 to 30 July 2017)

Senior Education and Engagement Officer 
Chris Gill

Research Assistant (Casual) 
Sarah Ward (to 15 December 2017)

Statistics and Data
Manager, Statistical Analysis 
Geoff Fisher

Senior Data Analyst 
Dennis Byles

Data Analyst 
Zsombor Bathy 

Angela Volkov

Publishing
Senior Publications and Website Officer 
Catherine Jeffreys

Administration
Operations Manager 
Sarah Lappin

Administrative Assistant 
Dakota Groepes

Chief Finance and Accounting Officer 
Michael Almond

Council Secretariat

The sessional Council directors are supported by a secretariat that 
undertakes the Council’s daily work.

Secretariat staff bring skills from a range of disciplines such as criminal 
law theory and practice, policy development, criminology, data analysis, 
publishing, administration and community education and engagement to 
assist the Council in meeting its objectives.

COUNCIL SECRETARIAT
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COUNCIL CHAIR AND 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chief Executive Officer

Manager, Statistical Analysis Manager, Legal Policy and 
Community Engagement

Senior Data 
Analysit

Data Analyst 
x 2

Senior Publications and 
Website Officer

Principal Legal 
Policy Officer x 2

Senior Legal 
Policy Officer x 2

Senior Education and 
Engagement Coordinator

Operations Manager

Administrative 
Assistant

Chief Finance and 
Accounting Officer

ORGANISATIONAL CHART
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The government has implemented a number of the Council’s recommended 
reforms. Our research has provided evidence for policy reform and 
has assisted the courts with information about sentencing practices. 
As highlighted below, our research on sentencing children and young 
people is an example of how our work is also used by other agencies and 
organisations to influence policy change. 

People continue to access our previous research. First published in 2011, Does Imprisonment Deter? 
A Review of the Evidence, for example, remains one our most popular reports. In 2017–18, it was 
downloaded from our website over 700 times, showing its ongoing influence.

OFFENDING BY CHILDREN AND YOUNG ADULT OFFENDERS
Offending by children and young people continued to be in the spotlight in 2017–18. A number of 
major inquiries have published findings and recommendations on this important subject, including 
the Parliament of Victoria’s Inquiry into Youth Justice Centres in Victoria,1 the State of Victoria’s Youth 
Justice Review and Strategy2 and the Victorian Ombudsman’s report on youth justice facilities.3 These 
publications draw on our reports on sentencing of children and young adult offenders, including:

• Reoffending by Children and Young People (2016);

• Sentencing Children and Young People in Victoria (2012);

• Sentencing Children in Victoria: Data Update Report (2016);

• Changes to Sentencing Practice: Young Adult Offenders (2015).

Deputy-Chair of the Council, Lisa Ward, gave evidence to the parliamentary inquiry into youth justice 
centres in Victoria, and her evidence is referred to throughout the inquiry report.

The Council’s work on children and young adult offenders was relied on in a number of submissions 
to the Victorian parliamentary inquiry.4 It was used in submissions and evidence given to the Royal 
Commission into the Protection and Detention of Children in the Northern Territory,5 and in the 
Western Australian Office of the Auditor General’s performance audit into diverting young people 
away from court.6 It was also cited in a number of academic articles in 2017–18. 

CITATIONS
Cases

To date, the Council has published 216 Sentencing Snapshots, covering offences sentenced in the 
Magistrates’, County and Supreme Court of Victoria. During 2017–18, Snapshots were referred to in 
almost 100 published decisions in the higher courts and the Court of Appeal, as shown on pages 16–17. 

Media

In addition to the judicial and academic citations (see page 15), the Council’s work received 
widespread media attention during 2017–18, featuring in news media including The Herald Sun and 
The Guardian, and on radio including 3AW and the ABC’s Law Report.

1 Parliament of Victoria, Legislative Council, Legal and Social Issues Committee, Inquiry into Youth Justice Centres in Victoria (2018).
2 Penny Armytage and James Ogloff, Youth Justice Review and Strategy: Meeting Needs and Reducing Offending (2017).
3 Victorian Ombudsman, Report on Youth Justice Facilities at the Grevillea Unit of Barwon Prison, Malmsbury and Parkville (2017).
4 A number of submissions to the inquiry also drew on the report. See for example, the submissions by VCOSS, the Law 

Institute of Victoria, the Salvation Army and the Youth Affairs Council Victoria.
5 See for example, Human Rights Law Centre, Reforming the Northern Territory’s Youth Justice System, Supplementary Submission 

to the Royal Commission into the Protection and Detention of Children in the Northern Territory (2017).
6 Office of the Auditor General (Western Australia), Diverting Young People Away from Court, Report 18 (2017). 

Our Work in Action

OUR WORK IN ACTION HIGHLIGHTS



15

Mirko Bagaric, ‘Abolishing the Curious Sentencing Anomaly between the Voluntary Disclosure of One’s Own Offending and Assisting 
Authorities with the Offending of Others’ (2017) 43(2) Monash University Law Review 299. • Lorana Bartels, ‘Criminal Justice Law Reform 
Challenges for the Future: It’s Time to Curb Australia’s Prison Addiction’, in Ron Levy, Molly O’Brien, Simon Rice, Pauline Ridge and 
Margaret Thornton (eds), New Directions for Law in Australia: Essays in Contemporary Law Reform (ANU Press, 2017) 199–132. • Lorana 
Bartels, Swift, Certain and Fair: Does Project HOPE Provide a Therapeutic Paradigm for Managing Offenders? (Palgrave Macmillan, 2017). 
• Lorana Bartels, Karen Gelb, Caroline Spiranovic, Rick Sarre and Shannon Dodd, ‘Bail, Risk and Law Reform: A Review of Bail 
Legislation across Australia’ (2018) 42(2) Criminal Law Journal 91. • Lorana Bartels, Robin Fitzgerald and Arie Freiberg, ‘Public Opinion 
on Sentencing and Parole in Australia’ (2018) Probation Journal (DOI 10.1177/0264550518776763) <http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/
abs/10.1177/0264550518776763>. • Caron Beaton-Wells and Julie N. Clarke, ‘Corporate Financial Penalties for Cartel Conduct in 
Australia: A Critique’ (Working Paper, March 2018) (DOI 10.13140/RG.2.2.16502.29768) <https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_
id=3149143>. • Graeme Brown, Criminal Sentencing as Practical Wisdom (Hart Publishing, 2017). • James Chalmers and Fiona Leverick, 
A Comparative Analysis of Hate Crime Legislation (University of Glasgow, 2017). • Kevin Kwok-Yin Cheng, Wing Hong Chui, Simon Young 
and Rebecca Ong, ‘Why Do Criminal Trials “Crack”? An Empirical Investigation of Late Guilty Pleas in Hong Kong’ (2018) 13(1) Asian Journal 
of Comparative Law 1. • Emma Colvin, ‘Bail Justices in Victoria: Perceptions and Experiences’ (2017) 29(2) Current Issues in Criminal Justice 

123. • Sophie De’Ath, Catherine Flynn and Melanie Field-Pimm, ‘Building Knowledge of Consumer 
Participation in Criminal Justice in Australia: A Case Study’ (2018) 7(1) International Journal for Crime, 

Justice and Social Democracy 76. • Clare Farmer, Discretionary Police Powers to Punish: A Case Study 
of Victoria’s Banning Notice Provisions (Springer, 2018). • Kate Fitz-Gibbon, ‘Homicide Law Reform 

in New South Wales: Examining the Merits of the Partial Defence of “Extreme” Provocation’ 
(2017) 40(3) Melbourne University Law Review 769. • Asher Flynn and Arie Freiberg, Plea 
Negotiations: An Empirical Analysis, Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice no. 544 
(Australian Institute of Criminology, 2018). • Arie Freiberg, Lorana Bartels, Robin B. 
Fitzgerald and Shannon Dodd, ‘Parole, Politics and Penal Policy’ (2018) 18(1) Queensland 
University of Technology Law Review 1. • Harry Hobbs and Andrew Trotter, ‘Lessons from 

History in Dealing with Our Most Dangerous’ (2018) 41(2) UNSW Law Journal 319. • Carmen 
M. León and Eva Aizpurua, ‘¿Formulación Abierta o Cerrada de las Preguntas en los 

Cuestionarios? Resultados de un Experimento Sobre Opinión acerca de la Finalidad de las Penas’ 
[‘Open Versus Closed Question Formulation on Questionnaires: The Results of an Experiment on 

Opinions Regarding the Purpose of Sentences’] [2017] (7) Boletín Criminológico [Bulletin of Criminology] 1. • 
Chris Leech, Detect and Deter or Catch and Release: Are Financial Penalties an Effective Way to Penalise Deliberate Tax Evaders? Working Paper 
no. 6 (Tax and Transfer Policy Institute, Australian National University, 2018). • Tim Matthews, ‘Under Control, but Out of Proportion: 
Proportionality in Sentencing for Control Order Violations’ (2017) 40(4) University of New South Wales Law Journal 1422. • Kath McFarlane, 
‘Care-Criminalisation: The Involvement of Children in Out-of-Home Care in the New South Wales Criminal Justice System’ (2017) Australian 
& New Zealand Journal of Criminology (DOI 10.1177/0004865817723954) <http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0004865817723954>. • 
Julia Quilter and Russell Hogg, ‘The Hidden Punitiveness of Fines’ (2018) 7(3) International Journal for Crime, Justice and Social Democracy 
(DOI 10.5204/ijcjsd.v7i3.512) <https://crimejusticejournal.com/article/view/512/350>. • Sharyn Roach Anleu and Kathy Mack, Performing 
Judicial Authority in the Lower Courts (Palgrave Macmillan, 2017). • Stephane Shepherd, Benjamin Spivak, Rohan Borschmann, Stuart 
A. Kinner and Henning Hachtel, ‘Correlates of Self-Harm and Suicide Attempts in Justice-Involved Young People’ (2018) 13(2) PLoS 
ONE (DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0193172) <http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0193172>. • Julia Tolmie, 
‘Considering Victim Safety When Sentencing Intimate Partner Violence Offenders’, in Kate Fitz-Gibbon, Sandra Walklate, Jude McCulloch 
and JaneMaree Maher (eds), Intimate Partner Violence, Risk and Security: Securing Women’s Lives in a Global World (Routledge, 2018) 199–214. 
• Andrew Torre, Dean Vogdanos and Robert Sdraulig, ‘Reconsidering the Effectiveness of an Asset Confiscation Scheme’ (2017) 24(4) 
Journal of Financial Crime 628. • Don Weatherburn, ‘Australian Imprisonment 2002–2016: Crime, Policing and Penal Policy’ (2018) Australian 
& New Zealand Journal of Criminology (DOI 10.1177/0004865818757585) <http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0004865818757585>. 

Penny Armytage and James Ogloff, Youth Justice Review and Strategy: Meeting Needs and Reducing 
Offending (State of Victoria, 2017) <http://justice.vic.gov.au/home/justice+system/youth+justice/

youth+justice+review+and+strategy+meeting+needs+and+reducing+offending>. • Office of the 
Auditor General Western Australia, Diverting Young People Away from Court, Report no. 18 
(Office of the Auditor General Western Australia, 2017). • Parliament of Victoria, Legislative 
Council, Legal and Social Issues Committee, Inquiry into Youth Justice Centres in Victoria, 
Parl. Paper no. 211 (2018) <https:// parliament.vic.gov.au/images/stories/committees/SCLSI/
Youth_ Justice_System/Reports/LSIC_Inquiry_into_Youth_ Justice_Centres_report_WEB.pdf>. 
• Victorian Ombudsman, Report on Youth Justice Facilities at the Grevillea Unit of Barwon 

Prison, Malmsbury and Parkville (Victorian Ombudsman, 2017) <https://ombudsman.vic.gov.
au/Publications/Parliamentary-Reports/Report-on-youth-justice-facilities-at-the-Greville>. • 

Human Rights Law Centre, Reforming the Northern Territory’s Youth Justice System, Supplementary 
Submission to the Royal Commission into the Protection and Detention of Children in the Northern Territory 

(Human Rights Law Centre, 2017) <https://hrlc.org.au/news/2017/11/17/nt-royal-commission>.

GOVERNMENT 
REPORTS

ACADEMIC 
CITATIONS
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Causing injury intentionally DPP v Csincsi and Csincsi [2017] VCC 992 (26 July 2017) • DPP v Russell 
[2017] VCC 1059 (4 August 2017) • DPP v Brown [2017] VCC 1838 (11 December 2017)

Causing injury recklessly DPP v Nawar; DPP v Turkozu [2017] VCC 1015 (31 July 2017) • DPP v 
Tamatea [2018] VCC 941 (20 June 2018) • DPP v Brown [2017] VCC 1838 (11 December 2017)
Causing serious injury intentionally Ranger v The Queen [2017] VSCA 191 (20 July 2017) 
• DPP v Whittle [2017] VCC 2017 (21 December 2017) • DPP v Do [2018] VCC 369 (21 March 
2018) • The Queen v Vitale [2018] VSC 197 (27 April 2018) • The Queen v Kumar [2018] VSC 
241 (18 May 2018) • DPP v L’Eveille [2018] VSCA 60 (19 March 2018) • The Queen v Bain-Singh 
[2017] VSC 431 (28 July 2017)

Causing serious injury recklessly Director of Public Prosecutions v Michelsson [2017] VCC 
1593 (10 November 2017) • DPP v Kobert [2017] VCC 1571 (24 October 2017) • Dang v The 

Queen [2017] VSCA 280 (3 October 2017)
Make threat to kill DPP v Samuels (A Pseudonym) [2018] VCC 781 (30 May 2018)

OFFENCES 
AGAINST 

THE 
PERSON

Burglary DPP v Burton [2017] VCC 1057 (2 August 2017) • Jeitany v The Queen [2017] VSCA 296 
(19 October 2017) 

Aggravated burglary DPP v Russell [2017] VCC 1059 (4 August 2017) • DPP v Brown [2017] 
VCC 1838 (11 December 2017) • DPP v Dean & Ors [2017] VCC 1989 (22 December 2017) • 
DPP v Brown [2018] VCC 931 (15 June 2018) • DPP v Rahimzadeh [2018] VCC 946 (22 June 
2018) • The Queen v Bain-Singh [2017] VSC 431 (28 July 2017) • DPP v Molfese [2018] VSC 
32 (14 February 2018) • The Queen v Kumar [2018] VSC 241 (18 May 2018)• Kiezenberg v 
The Queen [2017] VSCA 235 (6 September 2017) • Bradshaw v The Queen [2017] VSCA 273 

(26 September 2017) • Folino v The Queen [2017] VSCA 295 (19 October 2017)
Armed robbery The Queen v Vitale [2018] VSC 197 (27 April 2018)

BURGLARY 
AND ARMED 

ROBBERY

Rape Merrill (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2017] VSCA 189 (20 July 2017) • Cao v The Queen [2017] VSCA 298 
(19 October 2017) • Matheas v The Queen [2017] VSCA 330 (15 November 2017) • Cao v The Queen [2018] VSCA 98 
(9 April 2018) • DPP v Thompson [2017] VCC 970 (24 July 2017) • DPP v Abbas [2017] VCC 991 (25 July 2017) • DPP v 

Zhao [2017] VCC 1708 (10 November 2017) • DPP v Samuels (A Pseudonym) [2018] VCC 781 (30 May 2018) • Zhao v 
The Queen [2018] VSCA 28 (19 February 2018)

Indecent assault Zhao v The Queen [2018] VSCA 28 (19 February 2018)
Incest DPP v Wylie (A Pseudonym) [2017] VCC 1086 (9 August 2017) • Merrill (A Pseudonym) v The 

Queen [2017] VSCA 189 (20 July 2017) • Calazzo (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2017] VSCA 242 
(11 September 2017) • DPP v Tewksbury (A Pseudonym) [2018] VSCA 38 (27 February 2018)
Sexual penetration with a child aged under 12 Merrill (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2017] 
VSCA 189 (20 July 2017) • DPP v Malson (A Pseudonym) [2017] VCC 1581 (26 October 2017)
Sexual penetration with a child aged 12 to 16 DPP v Boag (A Pseudonym) [2017] VCC 
972 (20 July 2017) • DPP v Beilby [2017] VCC 1243 (2 August 2017) • DPP v Head [2017] VCC 
1958 (20 December 2017)

Sexual penetration with a child under care Merrill (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2017] 
VSCA 189 (20 July 2017)

Indecent act with a child under 16 Phillips (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2018] VSCA 114 (9 May 
2018) • Calazzo (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2017] VSCA 242 (11 September 2017) • DPP v Tewksbury 

(A Pseudonym) [2018] VSCA 38 (27 February 2018) • Phillips (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2018] VSCA 114 
(9 May 2018) • DPP v Wylie (A Pseudonym) [2017] VCC 1086 (9 August 2017) • DPP v Malson (A Pseudonym) [2017] 

VCC 1581 (26 October 2017) • Moore (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2018] VSCA 2 (30 January 2018) • DPP v Beilby [2017] 
VCC 1243 (2 August 2017)

SEXUAL 
OFFENCES

Our Work in Action

Sentencing decisions citing Sentencing Snapshots in 2017–18, arranged by offences covered in the Snapshots series
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Murder The Queen v Hague [2018] VSC 323 (15 June 2018) • The Queen v Pain [2017] VSC 454 
(9 August 2017) • The Queen v Lavery [2017] VSC 587 (28 September 2017) • The Queen v Bain-

Singh [2017] VSC 431 (28 July 2017) • The Queen v Pain [2017] VSC 454 (9 August 2017) • DPP v 
Neil & Marmo [2017] VSC 761 (14 December 2017) • DPP v Paulino (Sentence) [2017] VSC 794 
(21 December 2017) • The Queen v Hague [2018] VSC 323 (15 June 2018)
Manslaughter DPP v McDonald [2017] VSC 465 (14 August 2017) • DPP v Osborn [2017] 
VSC 535 (8 September 2017) • The Queen v Floyd [2017] VSC 546 (13 September 2017) • The 
Queen v Cicekdag [2017] VSC 781 (21 December 2017) • The Queen v McKnight [2017] VSC 
782 (22 December 2017) • The Queen v Donker [2018] VSC 210 (11 May 2018) • Vincec v The 

Queen [2018] VSCA 18 (8 February 2018) • Atesok v The Queen [2018] VSCA 22 (15 February 
2018) • Lee v The Queen [2018] VSCA 63 (21 March 2018)

Culpable driving causing death DPP v Guseli [2018] VCC 291 (14 March 2018)

HOMICIDE

Traffick in a non-commercial quantity of drugs Kada v The Queen [2017] VSCA 339 (22 November 
2017)

Trafficking in a commercial quantity of drugs DPP v McKenzie; DPP v Cahir [2017] VCC 1029 
(28 July 2017) • DPP v Gibbons [2017] VCC 1606 (1 November 2017) • Fernando v The Queen 

[2017] VSCA 208 (18 August 2017) • Parks v The Queen [2017] VSCA 232 (1 September 2017) • 
McKenzie v The Queen [2018] VSCA 34 (21 February 2018)
Traffick in a large commercial quantity of drugs DPP v McKenzie; DPP v Cahir [2017] 
VCC 1029 (28 July 2017) • Pham v The Queen [2017] VSCA 297 (19 October 2017) • McKenzie 
v The Queen [2018] VSCA 34 (21 February 2018) • Arico v The Queen [2018] VSCA 135 
(24 May 2018)

Cultivating a non-commercial quantity of narcotic plants DPP v Vo [2017] VCC 1903 
(11 December 2017) • DPP v Patience [2018] VCC 93 (16 February 2018)

Cultivating a commercial quantity of narcotic plants DPP v Tran [2018] VCC 595 (30 April 
2018) • DPP v Ho & Anor [2018] VCC 864 (8 June 2018)

DRUG 
OFFENCES

Arson The Queen v McKnight [2017] VSC 782 (22 December 2017) • McPadden v The Queen 
[2018] VSCA 57 (9 March 2018)
Theft DPP v Burton [2017] VCC 1057 (2 August 2017) • DPP v Dirbass [2017] VCC 1190 (28 
July 2017)
Obtaining property by deception DPP v Greer [2017] VCC 1042 (2 August 2017)

PROPERTY 
OFFENCES
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Data and Analysis

ACCURATE AND RELIABLE 
SENTENCING DATA AND ANALYSIS

One of the Council’s statutory functions is to provide statistical information 
on sentencing, including information on current sentencing practices.

SENTENCING ADVISORY COUNCIL STATISTICS ONLINE (SACSTAT)
SACStat is an online tool for viewing sentencing data for the Victorian Magistrates’ Court and higher 
courts (the County Court and the Supreme Court). Covering a large number of offences, SACStat 
incorporates aggregate data on case-level sentences, as well as data on charge-level sentences.

SACStat presents sentencing data in graphs and tables. Offences are accessible via a legislation index 
or offence search. Users can view sentencing outcomes by age group and gender.

SACStat is updated on a regular basis, ensuring that it continues to present relevant and 
contemporary sentencing data. As at 30 June 2018, SACStat statistics for the higher courts cover 
the period from July 2011 to June 2016 and include data on approximately 200 offences. Statistics 
for the Magistrates’ Court cover the period from July 2013 to June 2016 and include data on 
approximately 500 offences. Additionally, short narrative reports are available for 28 offences heard 
in the higher courts, providing summaries of sentencing patterns for both charges and cases for the 
relevant offence. 

The next update for the higher courts data is planned for release early in 2018–19 and for the 
Magistrates’ Court data at a later stage in 2018–19.

SENTENCING SNAPSHOTS
In 2017–18, the Council released six new Sentencing Snapshots.

The offences covered this financial year are:

• aggravated burglary (no. 211);

• armed robbery (no. 212);

• causing serious injury intentionally (no. 213);

• causing serious injury recklessly (no. 214);

• causing injury intentionally (no. 215); and

• causing injury recklessly (no. 216).

The Council has released Sentencing Snapshots on a regular basis since the series was first launched 
in 2005. Sentencing Snapshots examine sentence types and imprisonment lengths imposed over 
a five-year period for people sentenced for the offence of interest. The six new Snapshots cover 
sentencing in the five-year period from July 2015 to June 2017. 

As at June 2018, the Council has published 216 Sentencing Snapshots. An additional six Snapshots 
are planned for release early in 2018–19.
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CONTRAVENTION OF COMMUNITY CORRECTION ORDERS
In July 2018, the Council released Contravention of Community Correction Orders, examining proven 
contraventions of community correction orders in terms of the volume and type of contravention, 
associated factors and court responses. 

In the report, the Council analysed the proven offending for the operational period of each 
community correction order or until 30 June 2016 for all 7,645 people who received a community 
correction order between 1 July 2012 and 30 June 2013.

It was found that 3,886 people, or 51% of the study group, contravened their community correction 
order by non-compliance (1,611 people) or by further offending (2,705 people). The most common 
offence type committed on a community correction order was theft/dishonesty offences (1,183 
people) followed by road safety offences (by 1,043 people). 

The rate of contravention by further offending was higher for community correction orders imposed 
in the Magistrates’ Court than in the higher courts (36% and 28% respectively). Factors associated 
with an increased likelihood of contravention by further offending included the presence of prior 
convictions and the offender being aged under 25 years.

The most common court outcome for people who contravened their community correction order by 
further offending was imprisonment (35% in the Magistrates’ Court and 49% in the higher courts). 
Remaining on a community correction order was the most common outcome for people who 
contravened their community correction order by non-compliance (46% in the Magistrates’ Court and 
63% in the higher courts).

THEFT: SENTENCING OUTCOMES IN THE MAGISTRATES’ COURT OF VICTORIA
In December 2017, the Council published Theft: Sentencing Outcomes in the Magistrates’ Court of 
Victoria, examining sentencing trends from 2012–13 to 2016–17 for five categories of theft: general 
theft, theft of a motor vehicle, theft from a motor vehicle, theft from a shop and theft of a bicycle. 
The new report updates the Council’s 2008 Sentencing Outcomes for Theft in the Magistrates’ Court in 
Victoria: A Statistical Profile, which remains one of our most accessed and downloaded reports.

Between 1 July 2012 and 30 June 2017, the Magistrates’ Court sentenced 45,155 cases containing 
one or more proven charges of theft. There was an average of 2.5 charges of theft per case. 
Approximately 45% of charges of theft were the principal proven offence in the case.

Within this period, a total of 114,170 charges of theft were sentenced. General theft was the most 
common category of theft sentenced, and 47% of charges of general theft occurred in a case that 
also included a burglary or aggravated burglary offence, suggesting that a large proportion of general 
thefts involve theft from a house.

The majority of cases with a principal offence of theft involved a male offender (65.6%). The median 
age for all offenders found guilty of theft was 33 years.

Most cases with a principal offence of theft received a non-custodial sentence (78.9%). However, 
cases containing theft of a motor vehicle typically received more severe sentences, with almost 46% 
receiving a custodial sentence.
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SERIOUS OFFENDING WHILE ON A COMMUNITY CORRECTION ORDER
In May 2018, the Council released Serious Offending on a Community Correction Order: 2016–17. The 
report fulfils an obligation under the Corrections Act 1986 (Vic) s 104AA(2) that: 

For each financial year commencing on or after 1 July 2016, the Sentencing Advisory Council must 
report for that year the number of persons convicted during that year of a serious offence committed 
while subject to a community correction order.

The reference period for the report was 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017. The analysis counted any 
person sentenced during this period for a serious offence committed while the person was serving a 
community correction order. 

A serious offence is defined by the Corrections Act 1986 (Vic) s 104AA(2) to include:

• a serious violent offence (Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) sch 1 cl 2) such as armed robbery, murder and 
intentionally causing serious injury; and

• a sexual offence (Serious Sex Offenders (Detention and Supervision) Act 2009 (Vic) sch 1) such as rape, 
sexual assault and indecent act with a child under 16.

No single source of data held by the courts or Corrections Victoria identifies if a serious offence was 
committed by a person while serving a community correction order. Therefore, the Council combined 
data from multiple sources identifying the period during which each community correction order was 
active and the date on which each serious offence was committed.

The report found that 551 people were sentenced in 2016–17 for committing a serious offence while 
serving a community correction order. As an approximate rate of contravention, 1.6% of people who 
received a community correction order from July 2014 to June 2017 were sentenced in 2016–17 for 
committing a serious offence while serving their order. 

Nearly two-thirds of people who committed a serious offence did so within the first six months of 
their community correction order commencing. 

The three most common types of serious offences committed on a community correction order were 
make threat to kill, make threat to inflict serious injury and aggravated burglary. A small number of 
very serious offences were also committed, including five charges of rape, two of murder and one of 
manslaughter.

Cumulative percentage of people who were sentenced in 2016–17 for a serious offence committed while 
on a community correction order, by time between commencement of community correction order and 
date of first serious offence

35.6%

Under 3
months

3 to under
6 months

62.4%

6 to under
9 months

81.5%

9 to under
12 months

95.1%

12 months
and over

100.0%

Data and Analysis
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SENTENCING OF MINOR DRUG OFFENCES
In June 2018, the Council published Trends in Minor Drug Offences Sentenced in the Magistrates’ Court 
of Victoria. The report examines 10 years of sentencing data from the Magistrates’ Court to assess 
trends in both the sentencing of minor drug offences and the prevalence of different types of drugs 
involved in minor drug offences. Minor drug offences are classified as the possession or use of illicit 
drugs as defined by the Drugs, Poisons and Controlled Substances Act 1981 (Vic).

A total of 118,101 charges of a minor drug offence were sentenced between July 2007 and June 2017. 
These offences accounted for 5% of all charges sentenced in the Magistrates’ Court in the 10 years.

The report found that cannabis was the most prevalent drug in minor drug offences sentenced 
between 2007–08 and 2015–16. However, from 2010–11 methylamphetamine increased steadily 
in prevalence, surpassing cannabis in 2016–17. In that year, 5,712 proven charges of a minor 
drug offence involving methylamphetamine were sentenced, compared with 5,169 charges 
involving cannabis. 

The increase in methylamphetamine was the key driver of the overall increase in the number of 
proven charges of minor drug offences. That number increased by 97%, from 8,586 to 16,937, 
between 2010–11 and 2016–17.

The majority of minor drug offenders were male (83%). However, there was a modest upward trend 
in the annual percentage of minor drug offenders who were female, from 14% in 2012–13 to 20% 
in 2016–17. There was little change over time in the age distribution of minor drug offenders. Minor 
drug offenders in their 20s at sentence were consistently the largest group, accounting for between 
38% and 42% of cases each year.

A complete picture of sentencing practices for minor drug offences is obscured by the high and 
increasing prevalence of aggregate sentences in the Magistrates’ Court. Over 90% of imprisonment 
sentences imposed on minor drug charges in 2016–17 were aggregate sentences. However, the 
report’s analysis of cases with a single charge of a minor drug offence in 2016–17 found that the vast 
majority of these cases received either a fine (58%) or an adjourned undertaking (32%). Offenders 
did not always proceed to sentencing courts; 18% of offenders in 2016–17 received a diversion 
from police, while an average of 6% of all cases with a minor drug offence were adjourned by the 
Magistrates’ Court for participation in a drug diversion program.

An examination of other offences committed by minor drug offenders (but not necessarily on the 
same day as the minor drug offence) found that the majority of cases with minor drug offences also 
included other types of offences (80%). The most common other offence category was condition 
breaches (32% of cases), followed by deception (30%), road safety offences (29%) and theft (26%). 
Offences against the person were relatively uncommon, occurring in just 12% of cases with a minor 
drug offence.

The Council also published a factsheet that summarises the key findings of the report.

The most common sentences imposed on charges of minor drug offences, 2007 to 2017

Fine
37%

Community order

Adjourned undertaking

Imprisonment

Other

25%

16%

12%

10%
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Research and Policy Advice

A SENTENCING GUIDELINES COUNCIL FOR VICTORIA
In July 2017, the Council received a request for advice from the Attorney-General, the Hon Martin 
Pakula, MP, to examine and evaluate models of sentencing guidelines councils in the United Kingdom 
and to advise him as to the most suitable model for a sentencing guidelines council in Victoria.

The Attorney-General’s request for advice also asked the Council to publish an issues paper, and 
organise consultation events for the community and criminal justice stakeholders to attend.

In early November 2017, the Council published A Sentencing Guidelines Council for Victoria: Issues 
Paper, seeking feedback on key questions such as:

• the composition of the sentencing guidelines council;

• the purposes and functions of the sentencing guidelines council;

• the permissible form and content of sentencing guidelines; and

• the extent to which sentencing guidelines would be binding on Victorian courts.

Also in November 2017, the Council received expert constitutional advice from Peter Hanks QC and 
Graeme Hill about the constitutional permissibility of the models proposed in the issues paper. In 
its request for that advice, the Council described what it considered, at the time, to be essential 
elements of a sentencing guidelines council in Victoria, including:

• a membership consisting of legal and community members, as well as sitting judicial officers;

• an extensive consultation process that would be followed in the development of sentencing 
guidelines;

• the ability for the sentencing guidelines council to produce sentencing guidelines similar in form 
to those in England and Wales; and

• the ability for sentencing guidelines to have legal effect and be binding upon courts’ decision-
making processes.

The constitutional advice received by the Council indicated that the proposed model would most 
likely be constitutionally permissible, so long as courts retained sufficient discretion to impose just 
and proportionate sentences according to the unique circumstances of each case, and so long as the 
guidelines council was sufficiently independent of both the courts and the government.

Subsequent to the receipt of that advice, the Supreme Court of Victoria wrote to the Sentencing 
Advisory Council and submitted that it would be inappropriate for any members of the Supreme 
Court to sit as members of the sentencing guidelines council.

The Council hosted three separate events – for the judiciary, the legal profession and the general 
community – at which Lord Justice Treacy (Chair of the Sentencing Council for England and Wales) 
and Professor Julian Roberts (Member of the Sentencing Council for England and Wales) graciously 
shared their experiences with sentencing guidelines.

INDEPENDENT, HIGH-QUALITY 
SENTENCING RESEARCH AND POLICY ADVICE

The provision of independent, high-quality sentencing research and policy 
advice relates to the Council’s statutory functions of stating in writing to the 
Court of Appeal its view in relation to the giving, or the review, of a guideline 
judgment, conducting research and disseminating information on sentencing 
matters, and advising the Attorney-General on sentencing matters.
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The Council received 28 written submissions before preparing its final advice.

The Council provided its advice to the Attorney-General in March 2018. It made 22 recommendations, 
including that the sentencing guidelines council:

• aim to promote consistency in approach to sentencing, while preserving judicial discretion;

• include seven community members, four retired judicial officers and three persons with 
experience in policing, prosecution and defence;

• receive requests for the development of a sentencing guideline from the Attorney-General, but 
be permitted to refuse that request so long as it gives reasons for doing so;

• publish draft sentencing guidelines and accompanying sentencing impact assessments in order 
to conduct broad consultation before issuing any finalised guideline; and

• be permitted to develop both offence-based guidelines and principle-based guidelines.

The report further recommended that the sentencing guidelines produced by that body would:

• be binding upon Victorian courts, such that courts would be required to follow sentencing 
guidelines unless doing so would not be in the interests of justice, and the court gives reasons;

• not generally be applicable to sentencing child offenders, unless and until the guidelines council 
produced specific sentencing guidelines for that purpose;

• overrule relevant current sentencing practices after guidelines commence;

• permit courts to include guideline offences in an aggregate sentence so long as courts announce 
the sentence imposed on those guideline offences;

• apply to all offences sentenced (as opposed to committed) after the commencement of a 
relevant guideline.

The report also recommended that the Court of Appeal retain its guideline judgment powers.

The Council published A Sentencing Guidelines Council for Victoria: Report on 25 May 2018.

The constitutional advice received by the Council indicated that the 
proposed [guidelines council] model would most likely be constitutionally 
permissible, so long as courts retained sufficient discretion to impose 
just and proportionate sentences according to the unique circumstances 
of each case, and so long as the guidelines council was sufficiently 
independent of both the courts and the government.
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Research and Policy Advice

SECONDARY OFFENCES
In October 2017, the Council published Secondary Offences in Victoria. Secondary offences are 
crimes that occur when someone suspected or convicted of a criminal offence, who is living in 
the community while subject to special conditions, breaches one or more of these conditions (for 
example, by not complying with a curfew condition of bail).

Such offences are referred to as secondary offences because they arise secondarily to a person’s prior 
involvement in the criminal justice system.

Using court data for the five years to 2015–16, the Council found that the number of secondary 
offences sentenced each year in Victoria increased substantially, both in volume and as a proportion 
of all offences. In the five-year reference period, secondary offences increased from just 5% of all 
offences sentenced in Victoria to 10%. This represented an increase from 12,000 proven secondary 
offence charges each year to nearly 32,000.

The report found that:

• the majority of secondary offences were related to bail (70%), while the remaining charges 
related to sentencing orders (25%), conditions imposed on sex offenders (5%) and conditions of 
parole (0.2%);

• the significant increase in secondary offences in recent years was almost exclusively due to the 
introduction of two new offences in December 2013 – committing an indictable offence whilst on 
bail and contravening a conduct condition of bail; and

• the most common sentencing outcomes for secondary offences in adult courts were fines (21%), 
community correction orders (20%) and imprisonment (19%).

The report also found that the majority of imprisonment sentences for secondary offences were part 
of an aggregate sentence of imprisonment with other offences (84%), making it difficult to determine 
what effect the secondary offence had on the ultimate sentence. Further, for those charges that 
received a non-aggregate term of imprisonment, almost all of them (95%) were ordered to be served 
wholly concurrently with terms of imprisonment imposed on other offences.

The Council also released a factsheet detailing the main findings from the report.

SWIFT, CERTAIN AND FAIR APPROACHES TO SENTENCING FAMILY VIOLENCE 
OFFENDERS
In March 2016, the Royal Commission into Family Violence recommended that the Sentencing 
Advisory Council examine ‘the desirability of, and methods for, accommodating “swift and certain 
justice” approaches to family violence offenders in Victoria’s sentencing regime’. Subsequently, in 
September 2016, the Attorney-General requested such advice from the Council in the form of terms 
of reference. 

The Council engaged in an extensive and broad-ranging process of consultation that included:

• preliminary consultation with key stakeholders, prior to the publication of Swift, Certain and Fair 
Approaches to Sentencing Family Violence Offenders: Discussion Paper;

• a call for public submissions on the questions contained in the discussion paper;

• an online survey;

• two discussion forums, involving a broad range of stakeholders, on the questions contained in 
the discussion paper;

• further consultation with key stakeholders, subsequent to the publication of the discussion 
paper; and

• a discussion forum, involving key stakeholders, on the Council’s proposed recommendations.
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In October 2017, the Council published its final report rejecting the adoption of a swift, certain and 
fair approach, and instead recommended a range of reforms to increase the accountability of family 
violence offenders who breach a community correction order or who are identified as having an 
increased risk of a breach. The recommended reforms included:

• fast tracking in the Magistrates’ Court the prosecution of community correction order breaches 
by family violence offenders;

• encouraging greater use of judicial monitoring of family violence offenders (bringing offenders 
back to court to monitor their progress);

• monitoring family violence offenders earlier in the term of their community correction order;

• allowing Corrections Victoria to respond to any identified increase in the risk of an offender 
breaching their community correction order, by directing them to attend judicial monitoring;

• improving the quality of information provided to the court at a judicial monitoring hearing; and

• judicial education and training on the use of judicial monitoring of family violence offenders.

RESTITUTION AND COMPENSATION ORDERS
In June 2017, the Council received a request from the Attorney-General, the Hon Martin Pakula, MP, 
to provide him with advice on restitution and compensation orders. The terms of reference ask 
whether restitution and compensation orders made for the benefit of victims under Divisions 1 and 2 
of Part 4 of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) should become a sentencing option.

The request for advice follows a recommendation by the Victorian Law Reform Commission in its The 
Role of Victims of Crime in the Criminal Trial Process: Report.

Recommendation 49 of that report states:

The Attorney-General should ask the Sentencing Advisory Council to review whether orders made 
under Divisions 1 and 2 of Part 4 of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) should become a sentencing option. 
The review should consider:

(a) whether the purposes of sentencing should include the financial reparation of victims

(b) whether there should be a presumption in favour of courts making such orders

(c) whether such orders should be enforced by the state in the manner of a fine.

The terms of reference state that, if it concludes that restitution and compensation orders should 
become a sentencing option, the Council should consider the need for any additional consequential 
reforms including:

• process and procedure in relation to courts of summary and indictable jurisdiction;

• the regard to be given to an offender’s financial circumstances;

• victims’ appeal rights.

After preliminary consultation with key stakeholders, in March 2018 the Council published Restitution 
and Compensation Orders: Issues and Options Paper containing key questions on the issues raised by 
the terms of reference, as well as exploring options for reform. 

The issues and options paper has informed the Council’s consultation process, which has involved 
two discussion forums, an online survey, a call for public submissions and individual meetings with 
stakeholders and organisations, including the Victims of Crime Consultative Committee and the 
Victim Survivors’ Advisory Council. 

The Council has received 18 written submissions.

The Council is currently preparing its advice to the Attorney-General, which is due no later than 
1 September 2018.
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Informing the Community

Community education and engagement are key to achieving these goals.

The Council’s stakeholder and community engagement is guided by the principles and methods 
outlined by the International Association of Public Participation (IAP2).

YOU BE THE JUDGE
The Council delivers face-to-face education sessions in which participants learn about the law by 
sentencing an offender in a real case study. Priority audiences in the past 12 months have focused on 
community influencers and people working with (or training to work with) offenders and victims.

This year, 14 You be the Judge sessions were delivered to almost 400 participants. Groups included:

• community leadership programs from around Victoria;

• post-graduate journalism students;

• Victims Assistance Program and Victim Support Agency staff; and

• criminology students.

As part of Law Week in May 2018, an additional session was run in partnership with Victoria Law 
Foundation for VCE Legal Studies students, and two sessions were run in partnership with the 
Supreme Court of Victoria for the wider community. Each session attracted a capacity crowd of 
45 participants.

A QUICK GUIDE TO SENTENCING
The fourth edition of A Quick Guide to Sentencing was published online in January 2018. This 50-page, 
plain-language summary of sentencing law covers sentencing for both adults and children in Victoria. 
The resource is designed as a study aid for students and a practical guide for non-legal professionals 
working with offenders and victims of crime. It was downloaded 1,976 times in the 12 months to 
30 June 2018.

SENTENCING BROCHURES
The Council updated three two-page factsheets aimed at court users. How Courts Sentence Adult 
Offenders summarises what courts consider when sentencing adult offenders. Sentencing in the 
Children’s Court and How the Children’s Court Could Sentence You detail sentencing in the Children’s 
Court; the latter is in simplified English for readers aged under 18. These three resources were 
downloaded 872 times in the 12 months to 30 June 2018.

INFORMING MEMBERS OF THE COMMUNITY 
ABOUT SENTENCING

The Council’s obligations under the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) involve 
providing statistical and other information on sentencing to the judiciary 
and other interested persons. This includes providing information on 
current sentencing practices, gauging public opinion on sentencing matters 
and consulting with government departments, other interested persons 
and the general public on sentencing matters.
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VIRTUAL YOU BE THE JUDGE
Launched in October 2010, the online interactive Virtual You be the Judge informs users about 
sentencing principles and practice by involving them in sentencing a real case. Users choose 
questions to ask in a virtual court room, choose a sentence, then compare it to the sentence imposed 
in the real life case.

Since its launch, Virtual You be the Judge has remained popular, with over 6,000 people using it each 
year. It has had a number of minor updates since 2010, but it now requires a comprehensive update 
to reflect current sentencing law and practice and to ensure it continues to operate efficiently.

SOCIAL MEDIA
Social media, especially Twitter, has provided the Council with a cost-efficient and effective means 
to publicise our work, invite people to events and inform and engage with key audiences, such as 
journalists, legal practitioners and people affected by crime.

The number of people and organisations following @SACvic on Twitter has grown 11% over the 
12 months to 30 June 2018, from 5,100 to 5,691. An analysis of followers’ profiles suggests that 
journalists, legal practitioners and organisations working with people affected by crime are our most 
numerous followers. The Council posted 356 original tweets in that period (an average of 29 tweets a 
month). In the 12 months to 30 June 2018, 14 of the Council’s tweets scored within the top 50 tweeted 
by Australian state and federal bodies, as monitored by Measured Voice, based on interactions such 
as retweets and likes. Twitter analytics show that the Council’s tweets (including retweets) have had 
over a million impressions this year.

This year, the professional networking platform LinkedIn has provided an opportunity for the Council 
to broaden relationships with a small but growing network of legal bodies and practitioners.

TEACHERS’ KITS
The Councils Teachers’ Kits are modelled on the same format as our face-to-face workshops and 
Virtual You be the Judge. Students explore sentencing purposes, principles and factors before 
considering a real life case. They then compare their sentences to the sentence that the real-life 
judge imposed.

The Years 11 and 12 case studies include the offences of armed robbery, culpable driving and 
murder. The Years 9 and 10 case studies look at the offences of armed robbery, intentionally causing 
serious injury and trafficking in a drug of dependence.

In January 2018, both kits were updated to reflect changes to Victorian sentencing law.

MEDIA LIAISON AND MANAGEMENT
As influencers of public opinion, journalists in both print and electronic media remain important 
stakeholders for the Council.

The Council has long promoted awareness of its research to the media. Widening knowledge of the 
Council’s mission and activities means that an increasing amount of time is now spent responding 
to enquiries from individual journalists and providing them with timely information, data, referrals 
and comment. 

With an increase in the volume and intensity of the media’s crime and justice reporting in Victoria, 
the Council has sought to correct statistics reported in the media or clarify sentencing law. Writing 
and submitting letters and opinion pieces to media outlets in an effort to achieve this have met with 
mixed results. In the year ahead, the Council will utilise its website and social media to respond to 
misinformation in the media and promote more informed community debate on sentencing matters.

There has been a steady increase in journalists’ references to the Council’s published reports and 
use of Sentencing Advisory Council Statistics Online (SACStat) and Sentencing Snapshots to inform 
coverage of sentencing issues.
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Informing the Community

WWW.SENTENCINGCOUNCIL.VIC.GOV.AU
Traffic to www.sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au was up by 20% this financial year, driven by a 25% 
rise in the number of users finding us through search. Nearly 70% of our users are from Victoria, 
mostly from Melbourne, though users come from all over the state. The higher user numbers do 
not necessarily coincide with a higher level of engagement with the website. The bounce rate – the 
percentage of users who entered and left the website from the same page – was up slightly (2%). 
The number of pages viewed per session was down by 10%, as was the average session duration. 
However, the bounce rate was lower for Victorian users (51%) than for users generally (57%), and 
Victorians viewed over 15% more pages per session and spent over 20% longer on the site.

Our most popular content is ‘About Sentencing’, which provides plain-language information on a wide 
range of sentencing topics. It captured 34% of our audience share in 2017–18, equating to nearly 
160,000 pageviews. 

The website is home to three statistical products. Our long-standing Sentencing Snapshots series 
accounted for 45% of our publication pageviews and 16% of our downloads. Pageviews for our 
sentencing trends data were up over 40% from last financial year, and pageviews for Sentencing 
Advisory Council Statistics Online (SACStat), which incorporates data on over 700 offences sentenced 
in Victorian adult courts, were steady.

The Council provides free access to all its publications. Our top downloads for publications released 
in 2017–18 were:

• A Quick Guide to Sentencing (1,976 downloads);

• Contravention of Community Correction Orders (642 downloads);

• A Sentencing Guidelines Council for Victoria: Issues Paper (495 downloads);

• Swift, Certain and Fair Approaches to Sentencing Family Violence Offenders (472 downloads); and

• Theft: Sentencing Outcomes in the Magistrates’ Court of Victoria (378 downloads).

Pageviews on www.sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au, 2014–15 to 2017–18

269,772
2014–15 2015–16

349,159
2016–17

431,901
2017–18

463,741
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SOCIAL MEDIA
VIRTUAL YOU 
BE THE JUDGE

OUR DIGITAL 
PRESENCE

SACSTAT WEBSITE

The Council actively maintains social media 
accounts on Twitter, LinkedIn, Pinterest, SoundCloud 
and YouTube. In 2017–18, our Tweets had over 
one million views.

Sentencing Advisory Council Statistics Online 
(SACStat) had nearly 60,000 pageviews in 2017–18. 
Statistics from SACStat are increasingly mentioned 
in published sentencing decisions from the higher 
courts of Victoria.

During 2017–18, our website had over 120,000 users 
who viewed over 460,000 pages.

Our Virtual You be the Judge application attracts over 
6,000 users each year.
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Public Opinion and Consultation

CONSULTATION
The Council’s consultation functions focus predominantly on capturing informed opinions specific to 
our research and the projects and references that it undertakes. Achievements in 2017–18 include:

• organising three major consultation events on establishing a sentencing guideline council, 
including a well-attended public forum, involving presentations from the Right Honourable 
Lord Justice Treacy, Chair of the Sentencing Council of England and Wales, and Julian Roberts, 
Professor of Criminology at Oxford University and also a member of the Sentencing Council;

• calling for and receiving public submissions to assist in the preparation of advice to the Attorney-
General on a sentencing guidelines council for Victoria;

• calling for and receiving public submissions during the preparation of advice to the Attorney-
General on restitution and compensation orders;

• holding roundtables and consulting directly with a wide range of stakeholders during the 
preparation of the Council’s reports;

• providing online surveys to assist time/resource poor agencies and members of the community 
to make submissions; and

• participating in the newly established National Sentencing Network.

Recent changes to the guideline judgment provisions in the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) provide for 
the Council to undertake public consultation as part of the process. In light of this, the Council 
has developed key steps and timelines for participation in the preparation of any future guideline 
judgments made by the Court of Appeal.

A list of the agencies, organisations, academics and members of the public consulted in 2017–18 is 
set out on page 31.

GAUGING PUBLIC OPINION
The Council has neither formally gauged public opinion on sentencing nor engaged in any specific 
research on public opinion this financial year. However, in 2017–18:

• the Council’s Chair and other Directors participated in media interviews, including talkback radio, 
where community views on sentencing are frequently discussed and members of the public have 
the opportunity to put their views; 

• the Council provided the community with the opportunity to contribute their views on sentencing 
matters through submissions on references, including online surveys, and public events, 
including You Be The Judge sessions; and

• the Council followed local, national and international research on community views 
on sentencing.

GAUGING PUBLIC OPINION AND 
CONSULTING WIDELY

Giving members of the community the opportunity to provide input into 
sentencing policy relates to the Council’s statutory functions of consulting 
and gauging public opinion on sentencing matters.
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GOVERNMENT

JUDICIARY LEGAL 
PROFESSION

OUR 
STAKEHOLDERS

LAW 
ENFORCEMENT

EDUCATION 
AND 

RESEARCH GENERAL 
PUBLIC

Supreme Court of Victoria • County Court of 
Victoria • Magistrates’ Court of Victoria • Children’s 
Court of Victoria • Court Services Victoria • Victims 

of Crime Assistance Tribunal • Judicial College of 
Victoria • Court Services Victoria

Australian and New Zealand 
Society of Criminology • 

Professor Rosemary Sheehan, 
Monash University • Dr Lorana 

Bartels, Australian National 
University

RMIT University’s Centre for 
Innovative Justice • Domestic 

Violence Victoria • CASA House • 
Jesuit Social Services • Safe Steps • 

Liberty Victoria • Youthlaw

Victoria Police

D. Blum • T. McKay • 
J. Bartle • C. Verbunt 
•J. Awad • R. Caruana 
• C. Kelly • J. Kennedy 
• D. Hadden • X. Clark

Office of Public Prosecutions, Victoria • Director of Public 
Prosecutions, Victoria • Victoria Legal Aid • Legal Aid Queensland 

• Waller Legal • Director of Public Prosecutions, Queensland 
• Justice Connect • Lord Justice Colman Treacy (Court of 

Appeal, England and Wales) • Professor Julian Roberts (Oxford 
University) • Women’s Legal Service • Victorian Aboriginal Legal 

Service • Law Institute of Victoria • Victorian Bar

Victorian Law Reform Commission • Department of Justice and Regulation – Infringement 
Management and Enforcement Services • Community Operations and Victim Support 
Services • Criminal Law Policy • Asset Confiscation Office • Corrections Victoria • Crime 
Statistics Agency – Witness Support Services, Office of Public Prosecutions • Ministry 
of Justice, New Zealand • Victims of Crime Consultative Committee • Victim Survivors’ 

Advisory Council • Victims of Crime Commissioner • Victims Services, Ministry of Justice, 
Saskatchewan Government • Sentencing Advisory Council, Queensland • WorkSafe 
Victoria • Sentencing Council for England and Wales • Scottish Sentencing Council

NON- 
GOVERNMENT 

ORGANISATIONS
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Organisational Governance and Statutory Compliance

The Council has undertaken to complete compliance certification under the Financial Management 
Certification Framework in conjunction with the Department of Justice and Regulation.

ATTESTATION
I, Arie Freiberg, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that the Sentencing Advisory Council has 
complied with the applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management Act 1994 and Instructions. 

Professor Arie Freiberg AM 
Chair 
Sentencing Advisory Council 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
The Council’s published reports and other public documents are available online at www.
sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au. Any other relevant information in relation to the financial year is 
retained by the Accountable Officer and is available on request subject to freedom of information 
requirements and our privacy policy.

AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
The Sentencing Advisory Council (the Council) and the Judicial College of Victoria (the College) have 
established a joint Audit and Finance Committee to oversee their financial operations. Due to their 
small size, the Council and the College have come together to maximise effective use of resources. 
During 2017–18, the Committee comprised the following members: 

Chair 
Robert Camm 

Independent Members 
Cameron Hume 
Karol Hill (to 29 November 2017) 
Robyn Dyt

The Committee receives secretarial assistance from staff members of the Council, Sarah Lappin, and 
the College, Vicki Christou.

Michael Almond is the Council and the College’s Chief Finance and Accounting Officer (CFAO) and 
attends Committee meetings by standing invitation, providing finance advice and support as required. 

ORGANISATIONAL GOVERNANCE AND 
STATUTORY COMPLIANCE

As a public entity, accountable and effective governance is required under 
the Financial Management Act 1994, the Public Administration Act 2014, the 
Audit Act 1994 and other applicable laws, regulations and directions from 
the Minister of Finance.
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The chief executive officers of both organisations and a representative of the Victorian Auditor-
General’s Office also attend meetings by standing invitation. 

The Audit and Finance Committee oversees: 

• financial performance and reporting processes, including the annual financial statements; 

• the scope of work, performance and independence of the external auditor; 

• maintain effective communication with external auditors;

• consider recommendations made by external auditors and review the implementation of actions 
to resolve issues raised;

• the operation and implementation of the risk-management framework; 

• matters of accountability and internal control affecting the operations of the College and the 
Council; 

• processes for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations; and 

• selection, appointment and removal of the Council’s and the College’s CFAO.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Committee has: 

• reviewed the financial statements for the annual report and recommended them to the 
responsible bodies (or delegates) for approval; 

• reviewed the scope and results of the external auditor’s examination of the financial report and 
matters brought to its attention;

• regularly reviewed the CFAO’s financial reports on the entities’ finances;

• completed a Committee self-assessment and submitted a summary of the results to the entities; 

• reviewed the risk register and noted that the risks were being appropriately addressed by 
management; 

• reviewed the Committee’s annual programme; 

• endorsed the use by the Sentencing Advisory Council of the Department of Justice and 
Regulation Financial Code of Practice; 

• reviewed the entities’ Business and Strategic Plans; and 

• met separately with representatives of the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office and reviewed the 
VAGO audit strategy for the 2017–18 annual financial audit.

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL RESULTS
Table 1 (page 34) summarises information on the financial results and financial position, prepared on 
an accrual basis, of the Sentencing Advisory Council for the financial year 2017–18 and comparisons 
with the preceding four financial years.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE BUILDING ACT 1993
The Council does not own nor control any government buildings insofar as the Council sublets 
building infrastructure and property services provided by the Victorian Law Reform Commission.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT AND IMPACTS
Operating within the context of the Department of Justice and Regulation, the Council has adopted 
the Department’s environmental management policy, implementing efficient office recycling, waste 
management and energy efficiency practices. 
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Table 1: Financial results and position, 2013–14 to 2017–18

Notes 2017–18 
$

2016–17 
$

2015–16 
$

2014–15 
$

2013–14 
$

Income

Grants from 
Department of Justice 
and Regulation

(a) 2,018,000  1,854,400  1,792,400 1,752,800 1,680,600

Total income 2,018,000  1,854,400  1,792,400 1,752,800 1,680,600

Expenses (b) 2,011,934  1,841,769  1,772,355 1,741,493 1,629,926

Other economic 
flows

(c) 5,719 (10,812) (2,756) (7,636) 2,105

Net result for the 
period

11,785  2,487  17,289 3,671 52,779

Net cash flow from 
operating activities

– – – (500) 2,585

Total assets (d) 809,706  768,096  724,811 642,832 579,169

Total liabilities (e) 474,526  444,702  403,904 339,216 279,224

Notes: movements between 2016–17 and 2017–18

(a) Income received increased by $163,000 (8.8%) as a result of an additional reference undertaken. 

(b) Expenses increased by $170,165 (9.2%) mainly reflecting additional employee costs and 
consulting legal costs associated with a new reference received in 2017–18. 

(c) Other economic flows amounted to a gain $5,719. This item reflects the gains and losses arising 
from the revaluation of long service leave liability due to movements in inflation and bond rates.

(d) Total assets increased by $41,610 (5.4%). This increase reflects the movement in the amount 
receivable from the Department of Justice and Regulation associated with the funding 
arrangements relating to the increase in employment provisions and payables.

(e) Total liabilities increased by $29,824 (6.7%). This is due to the increase in employee provisions 
and payables.

Organisational Governance and Statutory Compliance

Some specific steps the Council has taken include:

• shifting from hardcopy to electronic publishing for almost all Council reports and papers;

• having a standing item on the environment at staff meetings;

• encouraging staff to adopt PIN printing;

• encouraging staff to adopt systems to reduce paper consumption; and

• posting signage to remind staff to turn off lights and monitors.

In terms of paper usage, the Council’s consumption of copy paper totalled 105 reams at an average per 
staff member of 7.50 reams in 2017–18. This was down from 8.65 reams per staff member in 2016–17. 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
The Council abides by a financial code of practice that encompasses procurement, the use of assets 
and resources, potential conflicts of interest, secondary employment, financial gifts, and gratuities. 
Employees are subject to the Department of Justice and Regulation’s code of conduct (consistent with 
the Victorian public service code of conduct and the objectives of the Public Administration Act 2004).
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the public the right to access documents held by the 
Council. For the year ending 30 June 2018, the Council received a request for information from a prison 
inmate in the form of a freedom of information request. The Council responded with a letter outlining 
the information readily available on its website and providing the prisoner with examples of its work.

GOVERNMENT ADVERTISING EXPENDITURE
The Council has not expended more than $150,000 on advertising.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
During 2017–18, the Council continued to promote personal and professional development of its 
staff in order to achieve sustained improvements and to create satisfying career paths. The Council 
actively promotes safe work practices, career development, work–life balance, and a friendly and 
non-discriminatory working environment. . 

Four of the Council’s staff were engaged in part-time post-graduate study in 2017–18. Staff 
are also encouraged to attend and present on their work at conferences and professional 
development seminars.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE VICTORIAN INDUSTRY PARTICIPATION POLICY
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 requires public bodies and departments to report 
on the application of the Victorian industry participation policy in all tenders over $3 million in 
metropolitan Melbourne and $1 million in regional Victoria. While the Council uses local suppliers for 
goods and services, the policy does not apply to the Council due to the threshold of expenditure.

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
The Council enjoys a cooperative relationship with employee representative organisations. For the 
year ending 30 June 2018, no time was lost through industrial disputes or accidents.

MERIT AND EQUITY
The Department of Justice and Regulation’s merit and equity principles are applied in the 
appointment and management of staff, and the Council’s guiding principles are consistent with the 
public sector values and employment principles articulated in the Public Administration Act 2004.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
The Council has assigned an occupational health and safety (OHS) officer, who undertakes quarterly 
inspections of the Council’s office. OHS has also been factored into the Council’s overall risk-
management framework. In addition to attending OHS presentations, all staff are provided with 
materials on the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 and guides on ergonomic assessment. All 
staff have access to standing desks.

The Council shared the cost of a defibrillator with the Victorian Law Reform Commission with which 
it is co-located. All Council staff were offered half-day, on-site CPR and defibrillator training run by 
St John’s Ambulance. 

Staff have also participated in fire drill evacuation exercises.

There were no claims of OHS related injury for the year ending 30 June 2018.

OUTSOURCED CONSULTANCIES 
There were no outsourced consultancies in excess of $10,000 for the year ending 30 June 2018. 
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Organisational Governance and Statutory Compliance

PRIVACY
The Council manages personal information in accordance with the Privacy and Data Protection Act 
2014 and our privacy policy. Regular reviews are carried out in relation to the recording of personal 
information to ensure that the Council is in compliance with regulations. There were no privacy-
related complaints for the year ending 30 June 2018.

PROTECTED DISCLOSURES
The Protected Disclosures Act 2012 encourages and assists people in making disclosures of improper 
conduct by public bodies. The Act provides protection to people who make disclosures in accordance with 
the Act and establishes a system for the matters disclosed to be investigated and rectifying action to be taken. 

The Council is committed to the aims and objectives of the Act. It does not tolerate improper conduct 
by its employees, officers or members, nor the taking of reprisals against those who come forward to 
disclose the conduct.

The Council recognises the value of transparency and accountability in its administrative and 
management practices and supports the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct 
involving a substantial mismanagement of public resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to 
public health and safety or the environment.

The Council will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make such disclosures from any 
detrimental action in reprisal for making the disclosure. It will also afford natural justice to the person 
who is the subject of the disclosure to the extent that is legally possible.

For the 12 months ending 30 June 2018, the Council did not receive any disclosures under the Act.

MAKING A DISCLOSURE
A disclosure is an allegation of improper or corrupt conduct. Disclosures of improper conduct or 
detrimental action by the Council or its employees may be made in writing or by telephone to:

Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC) 
GPO Box 24234 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
Tel: 1300 735 135

Further Information

The IBAC website contains further information about the disclosure framework at www.ibac.vic.gov.au.

SOCIAL AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY
The Council acknowledges the importance of cultural diversity and endeavours to maintain an 
inclusive, consultative and open approach to its work. Diversity is enhanced through the selection 
criteria of Council members (appointed by the Attorney-General), staff recruitment, student research 
placements, and a broad community consultation strategy that includes a diverse range of individuals 
and community groups.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
During 2017–18, the Council offered a range of programs to equip staff with the knowledge and 
skills required to perform their jobs successfully. Staff members were encouraged to extend their 
professional skills via:

• attendance at external professional development courses;

• enrolment in post-graduate degree courses (supported with study leave and some cost 
recovery); and

• attendance and presentation of papers at relevant conferences. 
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WORKFORCE DATA
The Council implements the directions of the Victorian Public Sector Commission with respect to 
upholding public sector conduct, managing and valuing diversity, managing underperformance, 
reviewing personal grievances and selecting on merit.

The Council, through the Department of Justice and Regulation, has a suite of detailed employment 
policies, including policies with respect to grievance resolution, recruitment, redeployment and 
managing diversity. Policies with respect to managing underperformance and discipline were 
produced and have been implemented across the Council, via the Department.

Comparative Workforce Data

Table 2 discloses the head count and full-time staff equivalent (FTE) of all active public service employees 
of the Sentencing Advisory Council, employed in the last full pay period in June of the current 
reporting period, and in the last full pay period in June (2018) of the previous reporting period (2017).

Table 2: Details of employment levels in June 2017 and 2018

All employees 
(head count)

Full-time 
equivalent

Full time 
(head count)

Part time 
(head count)

Full-time 
equivalent

Fixed term and 
casual (head count)

Full-time 
equivalent

June 2018

Gender

Male 6 5 1 1 1

Female 8 7 1 5 5

Self-described – – – – – – –

VPS 1–6 grades

VPS 1

VPS 2 1 1 1 1

VPS 3

VPS 4 3 3 2 2 1 1

VPS 5 5 5 3 3 2 2

VPS 6 4 3.4 2 1 3.4 1 1

Executive 1 1 1 1

Total 
employees

14 13.4 8 1 9.4 5

June 2017

Gender

Male 6 4 1 3.8 1 1

Female 8 3 1 3.6 4 1

VPS 1–6 grades

VPS 1

VPS 2 1 1 1 1

VPS 3 1 1 1

VPS 4 4 4 2 2 2 2

VPS 5 4 4 3 3 1 1

VPS 6 3 2.4 1 2 2.4

Executive 1 1 1 1

Total 
employees

14 12.4 7 2 8.4 5 5
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DISCLOSURE INDEX

Disclosure Index

The Annual Report of the Sentencing Advisory Council is prepared in 
accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations and pronouncements. 
This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Council’s 
compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page 
reference

Ministerial Directions and Financial Reporting Directions

Report of operations

Charter and purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant ministers 49, 66

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 8, 9, 49

FRD 8D Organisational objectives, indicators and outputs 8, 9, 31

FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects 18–31

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 18, 22, 26, 30

Management and structure

FRD 22H Organisational structure 13

Financial and other information

FRD 8D Performance against output performance measures 18–31

FRD 8D Budget portfolio outcomes –

FRD 10A Disclosure index 38–39

FRD 12B Disclosure of major contracts 35

FRD 15E Executive officer disclosures 63–67

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 35

FRD 22H Occupational health and safety policy 35

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 34

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 34

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 34

FRD 22H Subsequent events 67

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 35

FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 33

FRD 22H Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy 35

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 36

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 –

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 35
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Legislation Requirement Page 
reference

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information 32

FRD 24D Reporting of office-based environmental impacts 32, 33

FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 35

FRD 29C Workforce data disclosures 37

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 41

Compliance attestation and declaration

SD 5.1.4 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction 32

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 32

Financial statements

Declaration

SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 41

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements

48

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 48

SD 5.2.1(b) Compliance with Model Financial Report 69

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements (a)

FRD 13 Disclosure of parliamentary appropriations 44, 56

FRD 21C Disclosures of responsible persons, executive officers and other 
personnel (contractors with significant management responsibilities) in the 
financial report

63–67

FRD 110A Cash flow statements 47

FRD 112D Defined benefit superannuation obligations 59

Note: 

(a) References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs do not 
contain requirements that are of the nature of disclosure.

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 35

Building Act 1993 33

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 36

Carers Recognition Act 2012 –

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 35

Financial Management Act 1994 39
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COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

Income from transactions

Grants – Department of Justice and Regulation 2 2,018,000 1,854,400 

Total income from transactions 2,018,000 1,854,400 

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3(a) 1,676,630 1,564,134 

Supplies and services 3(b) 335,304 276,967 

Total expenses from transactions 2,011,934 1,841,101 

Net result from transactions (net operating 
balance)

6,066 13,299 

Other economic flows included in net result

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 4 5,719 (10,812)

Total other economic flows included in net 
result

5,719 (10,812)

Net result 11,785 2,487 

Comprehensive result 11,785 2,487 

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements.

Financial Statements
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

Assets

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 14(a) – –

Receivables 5 809,706 765,951 

Total financial assets   809,706 765,951 

Other non-financial assets

Prepayments 6 – 2,145 

Total non-financial assets – 2,145 

Total assets 809,706 768,096 

Liabilities

Payables 7 43,013 33,890 

Provisions 8 431,514 410,812 

Total liabilities 474,527 444,702 

Net assets 335,179 323,394 

Equity

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 13,697 1,912 

Contributed capital 321,482 321,482 

Net worth 335,179 323,394 

– Commitments for expenditure 11

– Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 12

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Financial Statements

Accumulated 
Surplus  

$

Contributed 
Capital  

$

Total  
$

Balance at 1 July 2016 (575) 321,482 320,907 

Net result for year 2,487 – 2,487 

Balance at 30 June 2017 1,912 321,482 323,394 

Net result for year 11,785 – 11,785 

Balance at 30 June 2018 13,697 321,482 335,179 

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts 

Receipts from the Department of Justice and 
Regulation 

  1,979,965 1,807,720 

Total receipts 1,979,965 1,807,720 

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,979,965) (1,807,720)

Total payments   (1,979,965) (1,807,720)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating 
activities

14(b) – –

Cash flows from investing activities

Sales of non-financial assets   – –

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing 
activities

– –

Net cash flows from/(used in) investment and 
financing activities

  – –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

  – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year

– –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year

14(a) – –

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements

NOTE 1 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for 
the Council for the period ended 30 June 2018. The purpose of the report is to provide users with 
information about the Council’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(A) Statement of Compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), which include 
interpretations, issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). In particular, they are 
presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of the AASB 1049 Whole of Government and 
General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner that ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of 
the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of terms and style 
conventions can be found in Note 20.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board Chairperson of the Council 
on 6 September 2018.

(B) Basis of Accounting Preparation and Measurement

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements 
whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is and also in 
future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in 
the application of AASs that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:

• superannuation expense (refer to Note 1(G);

• actuarial assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, 
patterns of leave claims, future salary movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 1(L)); and

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, and prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention except for non-financial physical assets, which, subsequent to acquisition, 
are measured at a revalued amount being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are made with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair value.

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, the Council determines the policies and procedures 
both for recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant and equipment, biological assets, 
investment properties and financial instruments and for non-recurring fair value measurements such 
as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 and 
the relevant Financial Reporting Directions.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, the Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 
by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

(C) Reporting Entity

The financial statements cover the Council as an individual reporting entity.

The Council is an independent government-funded body established under Part 9A of the Sentencing 
Act 1991. The Council was formed to implement and enable properly informed public opinion to be 
taken into account in the sentencing process, as well as the dissemination of up-to-date and accurate 
sentencing data to assist judges in their role to promote consistency in sentencing outcomes.

Its principal address is:

Sentencing Advisory Council 
3/333 Queen Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Council.

A description of the nature of the Council’s operations and its principal activities is included in the 
report on operations on pages 3–37, which does not form part of these financial statements.

Objectives and Funding

The Council’s functions are set out in section 108C of the Sentencing Act 1991 and are to provide 
statistical information on sentencing, including information on current sentencing practices, to 
members of the judiciary and other interested persons; to conduct research, and disseminate 
information to members of the judiciary and other interested persons, on sentencing matters; to 
gauge public opinion on sentencing matters; to consult, on sentencing matters, with government 
departments and other interested persons and bodies as well as the general public; to advise the 
Attorney-General on sentencing matters; and to state in writing to the Court of Appeal its views in 
relation to the giving, or review, of a guideline judgment.

The Council is funded for the provision of outputs consistent with its statutory functions. Funds are 
from accrual-based grants derived from monies appropriated annually by parliament through the 
Department of Justice and Regulation (DJR).

(D) Scope and Presentation of Financial Statements

Comprehensive Operating Statement
The comprehensive operating statement comprises three components, being ‘net result from 
transactions’ (or termed as ‘net operating balance’), ‘other economic flows included in net result’, as 
well as ‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’. The sum of the former two, together 
with the net result from discontinued operations, represents the net result.

The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AASs. This classification 
is consistent with the whole of government reporting format and is allowed under AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Balance Sheet

Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into financial assets and 
non-financial assets. 

Current and non-current assets and liabilities (non-current being those assets or liabilities expected 
to be recovered or settled more than 12 months after the reporting period) are disclosed in the 
notes, where relevant.

Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating, investing or financing 
activities. This classification is consistent with requirements under AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows.

Statement of Changes in Equity

The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of non-owner and owner changes in 
equity from opening balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing balance at the 
end of the reporting period. It also shows separately changes due to amounts recognised in the 
‘Comprehensive result’ and amounts related to ‘Transactions with owner in its capacity as owner’.

Rounding

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise 
stated. Figures in the financial statements may not equate due to rounding. Please refer to the end of 
Note 20 for a style convention for an explanation of minor discrepancies resulting from rounding.

(E) Changes in Accounting Policies

Subsequent to the 2016–17 reporting period, new and revised standards have been adopted in the 
current period as outlined in Note 1(S). There has been no financial impact on the existing financial 
disclosures or on the comparative financial information for the 2017–18 financial year from the 
adoption of these new and revised standards.

(F) Income from Transactions 

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity 
and the income can be reliably measured at fair value.

Grants from the Department of Justice and Regulation

Income from the outputs the Council provides to the government is recognised when those outputs 
have been delivered and the relevant minister has certified delivery of those outputs in accordance 
with specified performance criteria.

Fair Value of Services Provided by the Department of Justice and Regulation

The DJR has been centrally funded for services it provides to the Council. These services are 
not recognised in the financial statements of the Council as their fair values cannot be reliably 
determined. The services that are utilised include the use of the DJR’s financial systems, payroll 
systems, accounts payable, asset register and IT network.

(G) Expenses from Transactions 

Expenses from transactions are recognised as they are incurred, and reported in the financial year to 
which they relate.

Employee Expenses

Refer to the section in Note 1(L) regarding employee benefits.

These expenses include all costs related to employment (other than superannuation which is 
accounted for separately) including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments and WorkCover premiums.
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Superannuation

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement is the employer contributions for 
members of both defined benefit and defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or 
payable during the reporting period.

The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) in their Annual Financial Statements, disclose on 
behalf of the state as the sponsoring employer, the net defined benefit cost related to the members 
of these plans as an administered liability. Refer to DTF’s Annual Financial Statements for more 
detailed disclosures in relation to these plans.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.

Supplies and Services

Supplies and services costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 
incurred.

(H) Other Economic Flows Included in the Net Result 

Other economic flows measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not result 
from transactions.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying 
value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the difference is written off as an ‘other economic flow’, except to the extent that the write-
down can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that class of asset.

Refer to Note 1(K) in relation to the recognition and measurement of non-financial assets.

Other Gains/(Losses) from Other Economic Flows

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains and losses from the revaluation 
of the present value of the annual leave and long service leave liability due to changes in the bond 
interest rates.

(I) Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the Council’s 
activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise from statute rather than a contract. 
Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory payables arising from taxes do 
not meet the definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets 
and financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 
and those that do not.

The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.

Categories of Non-Derivative Financial Instruments

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that 
are not quoted on an active market. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes trade receivables and other receivables, but not statutory 
receivables.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost

Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are 
initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between 
the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the 
period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method (refer to Note 20).

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of the Council’s contractual 
payables and interest-bearing arrangements other than those designated at fair value through the 
profit and loss.

(J) Financial Assets 

Receivables
Receivables consist of statutory receivables, such as amounts owing from DJR.

Contractual receivables that are classified as financial instruments and categorised as loans and 
receivables (refer to Note 1(I) Financial Instruments for recognition and measurement). Statutory 
receivables, are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for 
impairment), but are not financial instruments because they do not arise from a contract.

Receivables are subject to impairment testing as described below. A provision for doubtful 
receivables is recognised when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected, and 
bad debts are written off when identified.

For measurement principle of receivables, refer to Note 1(I).

Impairment of Financial Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Council assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those 
measured at fair value through profit and loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial 
instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and 
other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

(K) Other Non-Financial Assets

Prepayments
Other non-financial assets include prepayments that represent payments in advance of receipt 
of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term 
extending beyond that period.

(L) Liabilities 

Payables
Payables consist of: 

• contractual payables, such as accounts payable and other sundry liabilities that represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Council prior to the end of the financial year that 
are unpaid, and arise when the Council becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of 
the purchase of those goods and services; and

• statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial liabilities 
at amortised cost (refer to Note 1(I)). Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly 
to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and are not included in the 
category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Council has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic 
benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that 
reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 
and long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

Liabilities for annual leave are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current 
liabilities. Those liabilities that are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting period 
are measured at nominal values. Those liabilities that are not expected to be settled within 12 
months are also recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, but are 
measured at present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using 
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities for long service leave are recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

The Council adopted a new model to calculate the provision for long service leave in 2016–17. 
The previous model assumed that long service leave is taken as a lump sum; the new model 
assumes it is taken a few days at a time. Therefore, the new model apportions more of the 
unconditional long service leave liability over future years than the old model, based on an assumed 
pattern of payments.

Unconditional long service leave is disclosed as a current liability, even where the department does 
not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current long service leave liability are measured at:

• undiscounted value if the department expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• present value if the department does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right 
to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service. This non-current long service leave is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current long service leave liability 
is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond 
interest rates for which it is then recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the net result.

Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are not 
employee benefits. They are disclosed separately as a component of the provision for employee 
benefits when the employment to which they relate has occurred.

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered 
probable that the average sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in 
the future. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement as it is taken.

Liabilities for wages and salaries are shown in payables (Note 7).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(M) Leases

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment.

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic 
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Leases of 
plant and equipment are classified as finance infrastructure leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership from lessor to lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

(N) Equity 

Contribution by Owners
Additions to net assets that have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as 
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions have also 
been designated as contribution by owners.

(O) Commitments 

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from 
contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way of a note (refer to Note 11 Commitments for 
expenditure) at their nominal value and exclusive of the goods and services tax (GST) payable. In 
addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, 
the net present values of significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease 
to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

(P) Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed 
by way of a note (refer to Note 12 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities) and, if quantifiable, are 
measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented exclusive of 
GST receivable or payable respectively.

(Q) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case, the GST payable is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated exclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
Department of Justice and Regulation (DJR) manages the GST transactions on behalf of the Council, 
and the net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the Australian Taxation Office is 
recognised in the financial statements of DJR.

(R) Events after the Reporting Period

Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where the 
transactions result from an agreement between the Council and other parties, the transactions are 
only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of the reporting period. 
Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue, where those events provide information about conditions that existed at the reported date. 
Note disclosure is made about events between the end of the reporting period and the date the 
financial statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions that arose after 
the end of the reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.

(S) Summary of New/Revised Accounting Standards Effective for Future Reporting Periods

As at 30 June 2018, the following standards and interpretations that are applicable to the Council 
had been issued but were not mandatory for financial year ending 30 June 2018. Standards and 
interpretations that are not applicable to the Council have been omitted. The Council has not early 
adopted these standards.
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Standard/
Interpretation

Summary Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on

Impact on public sector 
entity financial statements

AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with 
Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 
requires an entity to recognise 
revenue when the entity 
satisfies a performance 
obligation by transferring a 
promised good or service to a 
customer. 

1 Jan 2018 The changes in revenue 
recognition requirements 
in AASB 15 may result in 
changes to the timing and 
amount of revenue recorded 
in the financial statements. 
The standard will also require 
additional disclosures on 
service revenue and contract 
modifications. 

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments

The key changes include the 
simplified requirements for the 
classification and measurement 
of financial assets, a new 
hedging accounting model 
and a revised impairment loss 
model to recognise impairment 
losses earlier, as opposed to 
the current approach that 
recognises impairment only 
when incurred.

1 Jan 2018 The assessment has identified 
that the financial impact of 
available for sale (AFS) assets 
will now be reported through 
other comprehensive income 
(OCI) and no longer recycled to 
the profit and loss. 
While the preliminary 
assessment has not identified 
any material impact arising 
from AASB 9, it will continue to 
be monitored and assessed.

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced 
by AASB 16 include the 
recognition of most operating 
leases (which are currently not 
recognised) on the balance 
sheet.

1 Jan 2019 The assessment has indicated 
that as most operating leases 
will come on balance sheet, 
recognition of lease assets and 
lease liabilities will cause net 
debt to increase. 
Depreciation of lease 
assets and interest on lease 
liabilities will be recognised 
in the income statement 
with marginal impact on the 
operating surplus.
The amounts of cash paid for 
the principal portion of the 
lease liability will be presented 
within financing activities 
and the amounts paid for 
the interest portion will be 
presented within operating 
activities in the cash flow 
statement.

AASB 1058
Income of 
Not-For-Profit 
Entities

This Standard will replace 
AASB 1004 Contributions and 
establishes principles for 
transactions that are not within 
the scope of AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, 
where the consideration to 
acquire an asset is significantly 
less than fair value to enable 
not-for-profit entities to further 
their objectives.

1 Jan 2019 The assessment has indicated 
that revenue from capital 
grants that are provided under 
an enforceable agreement 
that have sufficiently specific 
obligations, will now be 
deferred and recognised as 
performance obligations are 
satisfied. As a result, the timing 
recognition of revenue will 
change.

In addition to the new standards above, the AASB has issued a list of amending standards that are 
not effective for the 2017–18 reporting period. In general, these amending standards include editorial 
and reference changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting 
generally and the Council in particular.
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NOTE 2 
INCOME FROM TRANSACTIONS

2018 
$

2017 
$

Grants

Department of Justice and Regulation 2,018,000 1,854,400 

Total grants 2,018,000 1,854,400 

Total income 2,018,000 1,854,400 

NOTE 3 
EXPENSES FROM TRANSACTIONS

2018 
$

2017 
$

 (a) Employee expenses 

 Post employment benefits: 

– Defined contribution superannuation expense 116,381 104,642

– Defined benefit superannuation expense 15,072 15,072

 Salaries, wages and long service leave 1,461,013 1,366,260

 Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax and WorkCover levy) 84,164 78,159

 Total employee expenses 1,676,630 1,564,134

 (b) Supplies and services 

– Purchase of supplies and consumables 64,751 58,940

– Purchase of services 113,092 57,025

– Maintenance 579 12,802

– Rent 156,882 148,200

Total supplies and services 335,304 276,967

NOTE 4 
OTHER ECONOMIC FLOWS INCLUDED IN NET RESULT

2018 
$

2017 
$

 Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability 5,719 (10,812)

 Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 5,719 (10,812)
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NOTE 5 
RECEIVABLES

2018 
$

2017 
$

Current receivables 

Statutory 

Amount owing from Victorian Government (i) 764,419 744,950

Total current receivables 764,419 744,950

Non-current receivables 

Statutory 

Amount owing from Victorian Government (i) 45,287 21,001

Total non-current receivables 45,287 21,001

Total receivables 809,706 765,951

Note:

(i) The amounts recognised from the Department of Justice and Regulation/Victorian Government 
represent funding for all commitments incurred through the appropriations and are drawn from 
the Consolidated Fund as the commitments fall due. (Appropriations are amounts owed by the 
Department of Justice and Regulation/Victorian Government as legislated in the Appropriations Act. 
Due to the existence of legislative instrument, the appropriation receivable to an entity is statutory in 
nature, and hence not within the scope of the financial instruments standards.)

NOTE 6 
OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

2018 
$

2017 
$

Prepayments – 2,145

Total other non-financial assets – 2,145

NOTE 7 
PAYABLES

2018 
$

2017 
$

Current payables

Contractual 

 Supplies and services 10,873 9,005

 Employee benefits 32,140 24,885

Total payables 43,013 33,890

(a) Maturity analysis of payables

 Refer to table 13.2 in Note 13.
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NOTE 8 
PROVISIONS

2018 
$

2017 
$

Current provisions

 Employee benefits (i) (Note 8(a)) – annual leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (ii) 70,939 64,283 

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months (iii) 9,274 7,367 

Employee benefits (i) (Note 8(a)) – long service leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (ii) 21,570 28,231 

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months (iii) 226,330 233,336 

328,113 333,217 

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs (Note 8(a))

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (ii) 20,631 18,484 

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months (iii) 37,483 38,110 

58,114 56,594 

Total current provisions 386,227 389,811 

Non-current provisions

Employee benefits (i) (note8(a)) 39,258 18,205 

Employee benefits on-costs (Note 8(a) and Note 8(b)) 6,029 2,796 

Total non-current provisions 45,287 21,001 

Total provisions 431,514 410,812 

(a) Employee benefits and related oncosts (i)

Current employee benefits

Annual leave 80,213 71,650 

Long service leave 247,900 261,567 

Non-current employee benefits

Long service leave 39,258 18,205 

Total employee benefits 367,371 351,422 

Current on-costs 58,114 56,594 

Non-current on-costs 6,029 2,796 

Total on-costs 64,143 59,390 

Total employee benefits and related on-costs 431,514 410,812 

Notes:

(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave 
accrued by employees, not including on-costs.

(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.

(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.
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On-costs  
2018 

$

Total  
2018 

$

(b) Movement in provisions

Opening balance 59,390 59,390 

Additional provisions recognised 43,144 43,144 

Reduction arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic 
benefits

(38,391) (38,391)

Closing balance 64,143 64,143 

Current 58,114 58,114 

Non-current 6,029 6,029 

64,143 64,143 

NOTE 9 
SUPERANNUATION
Employees of the Council are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Council contributes 
to the defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based on years of 
service and final average salary.

The Council does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s) because the 
entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its 
only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The DTF discloses the state’s 
defined benefit liabilities in its disclosure for administered items.

However, superannuation contributions paid and payable for the reporting period are included as 
part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of the Council.

The name, details and amount expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds 
and contributions made by the Council are as follows:

Fund Paid contribution for the Year Contribution outstanding at 
year end

  2018 
$

2017 
$

2018 
$

2017 
$

Defined benefit plans

State Superannuation Fund 15,072 15,072 – –

Defined contribution plans

 VicSuper 69,349 68,829 – –

 Various other funds 47,032 35,813 – –

Total 131,453 119,714 – –

Note:

(i) The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the 
defined benefits superannuation plans.
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NOTE 10 
LEASES

Operating Leasing Arrangements

The operating lease relates to the office accommodation leased by the Council with a lease term 
of five years, with an option to extend for a further five years. All operating lease contracts contain 
market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not 
have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

2018 
$

2017 
$

Non-cancellable operating lease payable

Not longer than one year 110,867 103,239 

Longer than one year and not longer than five years 489,630 –

600,497 103,239 

NOTE 11 
COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

(a) Capital Expenditure Commitments

There were no commitments for capital expenditure as at 30 June 2018 ($nil – 2017).

(b) Lease Commitments

There are no finance lease commitments. Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are 
disclosed in Note 10.

NOTE 12 
CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At balance date there were no contingent assets or liabilities not provided for in the balance sheet as 
at 30 June 2018 ($nil – 2017).
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NOTE 13 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Council’s principal financial instruments comprise:

• prepayments; and

• payables (excluding statutory payables).

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, 
with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument above are 
disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudently manage the Council’s financial 
risks within the government policy parameters. The Council’s main financial risk is liquidity risk. The 
Council manages this financial risk in accordance with its financial risk management policy.

Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the 
management team of the Council. The carrying amount of the Council’s contractual financial assets 
and financial liabilities by category are in Table 13.1 below.

Table 13.1: Categorisation of financial instruments

Contractual financial 
liabilities at amortised cost 

$

Total 
$

2018

Payables

Supplies and services 10,873 10,873 

Other payables 32,140 32,140 

Total contractual financial liabilities (i) 43,013 43,013 

2017

Payables

Supplies and services 9,005 9,005 

Other payables 24,885 24,885 

Total contractual financial liabilities (i) 33,890 33,890 

Note:

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian 
Government and GST input tax credit recoverable, and taxes payable).

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they 
fall due. The Council operates under the government fair payments policy of settling financial obligations 
within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, makes payments within 30 days from the date of resolution. 

The Council’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as 
disclosed on the face of the balance sheet. The Council manages its liquidity risk by careful maturity 
planning of its financial obligations based on forecasts of future cash flows. The Council’s exposure to 
liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for the Council’s contractual financial 
liabilities:
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Table 13.2: Maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities (i)

Maturity dates (ii)

Carrying 
amount 

$

Nominal 
amount 

$

Less than 
1 month 

$

1–3 
months 

$

3 months 
– 1 year 

$

1–5 years 
$

2018 

Payables (i)  

Supplies and services 10,873 10,873 10,873 – – –

Other payables 32,140 32,140 32,140 – – –

43,013 43,013 43,013 – – –

2017 

Payables (ii)  

Supplies and services 9,005 9,005 9,005 – – –

Other payables 24,885 24,885 24,885 – – –

 33,890 33,890 33,890 – – –

Notes:

(i) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

(ii) The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g. taxes payable).

(c) Market Risk and Interest Rate Risk

The Council has insignificant exposure to market risk. 

The Council has no borrowings or investments; accordingly there is no exposure to interest rate risk.

(d) Fair Value

The Council considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the 
financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values because of the short term nature 
of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.
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NOTE 14 
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

2018 
$

2017 
$

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and deposits disclosed in the balance sheet – –

Balance as per cash flow statement – –

(b) Reconciliation of net result for the period to net cash flows from operating activities

Net result for the period 11,785 2,487 

Non-cash movements

Nil – –

Movements in assets and liabilities

 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments 2,145 3,396 

 (Increase)/decrease in receivables (43,754) (46,680)

 Increase/(decrease) in payables 9,122 (19,469)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 20,702 60,266 

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities – –

NOTE 15 
RESPONSIBLE PERSONS
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the 
reporting period.

The persons who held the positions of ministers and Secretary to the Department are as follows:

Attorney-General The Honourable Martin Pakula, MP 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Acting Attorney-General The Hon. Lisa Neville, MP 23 September 2017 to 8 October 2017

The Hon. Lisa Neville, MP 22 December 2017 to 7 January 2018

The Hon. Lisa Neville, MP 23 January 2018 to 31 January 2018

The Hon. Gayle Tierney, MP 13 May 2018 to 19 May 2018

The Hon. Gayle Tierney, MP 22 June 2018 to 25 June 2018

The Hon. Marlene Kairouz, MP 26 June 2018 to 30 June 2018

Secretary to the Department 
of Justice and Regulation

Mr Greg Wilson 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Acting Secretary Julia Griffith 9 July 2017 to 15 July 2017

Julia Griffith 15 August 2017 to 30 August 2017

Donald Speagle 27 December 2017 to 14 January 2018

Julia Griffith 15 January 2018 to 31 January 2018
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Sentencing Advisory Council

The persons who were responsible persons of the Council for the reporting period are as follows:

Chief Executive Officer Ms Cynthia Marwood 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Chairperson Professor Arie Freiberg AM 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Other Board Members Ms Carmel Arthur 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mr Hugh de Kretser 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mr David Grace QC 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Ms Helen Fatouros 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mr John Griffin PSM 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Ms Barbara Rozenes 1 July 2017 to 8 March 2018

Ms Lisa Ward 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mr Geoff Wilkinson OAM 1 July 2017 to 5 June 2018

Ms Fiona Dowsley 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mr Shane Patton 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mr Brendan Kissane 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Ms Sherril Handley 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Remuneration of Statutory Office Holders and Executives

The number of statutory office holders and executive officers, other than ministers and departmental 
executives and their total remuneration during the reporting period is shown below in the relevant 
income bands.

Several factors affect the total remuneration payable to statutory office holders and executives in the 
reporting period at the Council. Statutory office holders appointed as part-time Board Members may 
be public sector employees and therefore as they already receive remuneration in their usual roles 
they are not entitled to receive remuneration as a member of the Council.

Five Board Members were not remunerated during the 2017–18 financial year.

Income Band Total Remuneration

2018 
No.

2017 
No.

$0 – $9,999 8 8

$180,000 – $189,999

$190,000 – $199,999 1 1

Total numbers 9 9

Total amount  $223,803  $246,988
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NOTE 16 
REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVES 

Ministers and the Department

Amounts relating to Minsters are reported in the financial statements of the Department of 
Parliamentary Services. Remuneration received or receivable by the Secretary in connection with 
the management of the Department during the period is reported by the Department of Justice and 
Regulation.

For information regarding related party transactions of ministers, the register of members’ interests 
is publicly available from: www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register-of-interests.

Sentencing Advisory Council

The number of executives, other than ministers and departmental executives, and their total 
remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee 
equivalents provides a measure of full time equivalent statutory office holders and executives over 
the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided 
by the entity, or on behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the 
following categories. 

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick 
leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as 
allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a 
discrete basis when employment has ceased. 

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred 
compensation. 

Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages. 

Remuneration of executive officers 2018 2017

Short-term employee benefits 173,836 197,537

Post-employment benefits 19,701 15,072

Other long-term benefits 6,395 6,720

Total remuneration (a) 199,932 219,329

Total number of executives remunerated 1 1

Total annualised employee equivalents (b) 1 1

Notes:

(a) The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key 
Management Personnel (KMP) of the entity under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also 
reported within the related parties note disclosure (Note 17).

(b) Annualised employee equivalent is based on the time fraction worked over the reporting period.
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NOTE 17 
RELATED PARTIES
The Council is an Independent government-funded body established under Part 9A of the Sentencing 
Act 1991. It is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria.

Related parties of the Council include:

• all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests 
(controlled entities, joint ventures and entities they have significant influence over);

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

• all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of 
state consolidated financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Significant Transactions with Government-Related Entities

The Council received funding of $2.2 million (2017: $1.9 million) from the Department of Justice 
and Regulation. Payments of $156,882 (2017: $167,500) were made to the Victorian Law Reform 
Commission for accommodation and outgoings as a sub-leasee. 

Key management personnel of the Council includes the Attorney-General, the Hon. Martin Pakula, MP, 
and the Chairperson, Board Members, and the Chief Executive Officer, which includes: 

Chief Executive Officer Ms Cynthia Marwood

Chairperson Professor Arie Freiberg AM

Other Board Members Ms Carmel Arthur

Mr Hugh de Kretser 

Mr David Grace QC 

Ms Helen Fatouros

Mr John Griffin PSM 

Ms Barbara Rozenes

Ms Lisa Ward 

Mr Geoff Wilkinson OAM

Ms Fiona Dowsley

Mr Shane Patton

Mr Brendan Kissane

Ms Sherril Handley

Compensation of KMPs 2018 2017

Short-term employee benefits 202,545 222,797

Post-employment benefits 21,258 17,471

Other long-term benefits 6,395 6,720

Total(a) 230,198 246,988

Note: 

(a) Note that KMPs are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of executive officers and 
statutory office holders (Note 16). 
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Transactions and Balances with Key Management Personnel and Other Related Parties

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian 
public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other 
government fees and charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector 
occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct 
and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Council. Procurement processes occur on terms 
and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements. 

Outside normal citizen type transactions with the Council, there were no related party transactions that 
involved key management personnel, their close family members and their personal business interests. No 
provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.

A number of the Board Members are employed by the Department. During the financial year, the Council 
and the Department conducted business transactions at arms length and at normal commercial terms.

NOTE 18 
REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

2018 
$

2017 
$

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

Audit of the financial statements 15,200 14,800

  15,200 14,800

NOTE 19 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no significant events occurring after the reporting date to be reported as at 30 June 2018.

NOTE 20 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND STYLE CONVENTIONS
Glossary

Commitments
Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-
cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Comprehensive Result
The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of the 
operating result and other comprehensive income.

Employee Benefits Expenses
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, 
fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation 
plans, and defined contribution superannuation plans.

Financial Asset
A financial asset is any asset that is:

(a) cash;

(b) an equity instrument of another entity;

(c) a contractual or statutory right:

 – to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

 – to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially favourable to the entity.
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Financial Instrument
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual 
(such as statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by 
governments) are not financial instruments.

Financial Liability
A financial liability is any liability that is:

(a) A contractual obligation:

(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that 
are potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

(b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

(i) a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the 
entity’s own equity instruments; or

(ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash 
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this 
purpose, the entity’s own equity instruments do not include instruments that are themselves 
contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments. 

Financial Statements
A complete set of financial statements comprises:

(a) a balance sheet as at the end of the period;

(b) a comprehensive operating statement for the period;

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;

(d) a statement of cash flows for the period;

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information; and

(f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraphs 38 of 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

Grant and Other Transfers
Grant and other transfers are transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or 
extinguishes a liability) or labour to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in 
return. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, 
they do not give the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. 
For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed non-
reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, but only by 
coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to provide commensurate benefits, in the 
form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes.

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants that refer to grants that are not subject to conditions 
regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants that are paid for a 
particular purpose and/ or have conditions attached regarding their use.

Net Result
Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result 
of items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those 
that are classified as ‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Net Result from Transactions/Net Operating Balance
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income 
from transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing 
sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and 
other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component of the change in net worth that is due to 
transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies.

Net Worth
Net worth is assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.

Other Economic Flows – Other Comprehensive Income
Other economic flows – other comprehensive income comprises items (including reclassification 
adjustments) that are not recognised in net result as required or permitted by other Australian 
Accounting Standards.

The components of other economic flows – other comprehensive income include:

(a) changes in physical asset revaluation surplus; and

(b) gains and losses on remeasuring available for sale financial assets.

Payables
Payables include short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable.

Receivables
Receivables include amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short- 
and long-term trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and 
interest receivable.

Supplies and Services
Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, 
including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Department. 

Transactions
Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, 
usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows in an entity 
such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating 
asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually 
agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets 
provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. 
In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government. 

Style Conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and 
sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the underlying 
unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the tables is as follows:

–  zero, or rounded to zero
(xxx.x) negative numbers 
201x year period
201x–1x  year period

The financial statements and notes are presented based on the illustration for a government 
department in the 2015–16 Model Report for Victorian Government Departments that has been 
updated for any required changes as advised by the Department of Treasury and Finance to 
reporting requirements for the 2017–18 financial year. The presentation of other disclosures 
is generally consistent with the other disclosures made in earlier publications of the Council’s 
annual reports. 
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